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MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The Metro’s Challenges in 2013                                                                                                        
This past year, 2013, will go down as one highlighted by the rapid acceleration of the Metro system’s 
expansion projects, as reflected in the simultaneous construction of four lines. Work continued at a 
stepped up pace on the second stage of the Line 4 – Yellow (Vila Sônia-Luz), extension of the Line 5 – Purple 
(Largo 13-Chácara Klabin), and introduction of the Line 15 – Silver (Ipiranga-Hospital Citdade Tiradentes) 
and Line 17 – Gold (Jabaquara-Congonhas Airport/São Paulo-Morumbi) monorails. This ambitious 
construction plan created 50,000 direct and indirect jobs.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The Metro's administration met the challenge of cutting costs and balancing its books without hiking fares, 
maintaining ticket prices at their 2012 level of R$3.00. Currently, the integrated urban rail system is 
composed of 75.3 kilometers of metro-rail lines and 260 kilometers of CPTM (São Paulo Metropolitan Rail 
System) commuter lines.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The metro-rail system carries 4.6 million passengers every business day, including Line 4 – Yellow. On 
November 14, 2013, the system registered 4.9 million riders, a new record since service roll-out in 1974. 
The steady uptick in passenger demand and expansion of the metro-rail lines spurred a significant increase 
in maintenance services, infrastructure investments, and employee training. 
                                                                                                        
Driven by its underlying objective of providing mobility solutions in the São Paulo Metropolitan Region, the 
Metro is in the process of planning additional lines and stations. Line 2 – Green (Vila Prudente-Vila 
Madalena) will extend to Dutra, serving a significant portion of commuters on São Paulo’s East side and the 
municipality of Guarulhos. In 2013, the functional project design for the Line 4 – Yellow, stretching from 
Vila Sônia to Largo Taboão, was completed to serve the municipality of Taboão da Serra.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Current efforts are focused on the functional project works for Line 5 – Purple network, expansion of the 
Capão Redondo to Jardim Ângela extension; Line 6 – Orange, the São Joaquim – Cidade Líder and 
Brasilândia – Bandeirantes sections; Line 15 – Silver, extension from Vila Prudente to Ipiranga; Line 19 – 
Azure, Campo Belo to Guarulhos; and Line 22 – Copper, São Paulo to Cotia.   
 
In addition to these lines, the São Paulo State Government contracted and commissioned studies on three 
additional sections through Public-Private Partnership (PPP) concessions, each providing for the execution 
of projects, works, and the purchase of trains and other equipment, as well as the operation and 
maintenance of the contracted lines for the respective concession terms. The specific target lines are Line 6 
– Orange (Brasilândia – São Joaquim), Line 18 – Bronze (a monorail system connecting Tamanduateí to 
Djalma Dutra/São Bernardo do Campo), and Line 20 – Pink (Lapa – Moema). 
 
Continued expansion of the system, which will reach 150 kilometers in the coming years, and its effective 
daily operation are sources of pride for the São Metro and represent a great achievement for the people of 
São Paulo.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Luiz Antonio Carvalho Pacheco                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
President                                                                                                        
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MANAGEMENT REPORT                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
EXPANSION OF THE METRO-RAIL SYSTEM                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Driven by the imperative of mobility in the São Paulo Metropolitan Area, planning is underway for the 
incorporation of new lines in the São Paulo Metropolitan Transportation System based on studies and 
surveys conducted by the São Paulo Metro Company.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Line 2 – Green, today operating between Vila Madalena and Vila Prudente, will be extended from Vila 
Prudente to Dutra (to the Northeast section of the city), bringing service to a significant portion of the 
residents of São Paulo’s West side and the municipality of Guarulhos.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
In 2013, the functional project design for expansion of Line 4 – Yellow, stretching from Vila Sônia to Largo 
do Taboão, was completed, inaugurating service for the municipality of Taboão da Serra.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Currently, five functional projects are underway, namely Line 5 – Purple, expansion of the Capão Redondo 
to Jardim Ângela extension; Line 6 – Orange, the São Joaquim – Cidade Líder and Brasilândia – Bandeirantes 
tracks; Line 15 – Silver, expansion of the Vila Prudente to Ipiranga section; Line 19 – Azure, from Campo 
Belo to Guarulhos; and Line 22 – Copper, running from São Paulo to Cotia.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
In addition, the São Paulo State awarded Public-Private Partnership (PPP) concessions for the execution of 
projects, public works, train and equipment purchases, and the operation and maintenance of an additional 
three lines during the respective concession terms. The three lines under PPP contracts are Line 6 – Orange: 
Brasilândia – São Joaquim, Line 18 – Bronze (monorail): Tamanduateí – Djalma Dutra (São Bernardo do 
Campo), and Line 20 – Pink: Lapa – Moema.                                                                                                        
 
 Line 2 – Green                                                                                                     
                                                                                                        
Running 14.4 kilometers from the Vila Prudente Station to the municipality of Guarulhos, the Line 2 – Green 
extension will include thirteen stations and a maintenance yard and serve residents in the neighborhoods 
of Jardim Anália Franco, Vila Formosa, Vila Manchester, Aricanduva, Penha, and Tiquatira, in São Paulo, and 
Ponte Grande and Vila Augusta, in Guarulhos, in addition to commuters on the CPTM’s Line 12  – Sapphire. 
The estimated demand for the line – from Cerro Corá to Dutra – is 1.7 million passengers each day. 
                                                                                                        
The new line runs along a perimeter, connecting across key junctions and major surrounding districts, while 
cutting through a series of natural barriers – rivers, ridges, and valleys – which served to shape organization 
of the West side into a network of branched access routes. The new track connects high-volume lines and 
bus transport routes, expanding access to the downtown area of the metropolitan São Paulo. By the same 
token, it reduces overcrowding on Line 3 – Red and serves the municipality of Guarulhos, the second largest 
city in the state of São Paulo.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The basic project design for the Dutra extension superstructure – twelve stations and two ventilation shafts 
– as well as additional system project designs are under development. 
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Contract – The bid notice for the executive project design and the public work (raw work, finishing, and 
permanent track) is under development and publication is scheduled for the first half of 2014.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Expropriation (Rights-of-Way) – The properties along the Vila Prudente – Aricanduva stretch are in the 
process of being reviewed and appraised. With respect to the Aricanduva – Paulo Freire and Pátio Paulo 
Freire extension, the three respective Public Utility Decrees (Decreto de Utilidade Pública – DUP) are under 
review by the São Paulo State Government and the São Paulo Metro Company for the purpose of ultimate 
approval and publication in the State Government Gazette.      
                                                                                                   
 Line 4 – Yellow                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The São Paulo State Government promoted a Public-Private Partnership - PPP, for the implementation of 
this line, São Paulo Metro Company, in phase I of such enterprise, being responsible for the full 
construction of six stations - Luz, República, Paulista, Faria Lima, Pinheiros and Butantã - and partial 
construction of four stations – Higienópolis-Mackenzie, Oscar Freire, Fradique Coutinho and São Paulo - 
Morumbi, the Vila Sônia Maintenance Yard, in addition to 12.8 km of tunnels. 
                                                                                                        
In 2012, the works were contracted for implementation of phase II, foreseen to be concluded in 2014 and 
2015, which includes the conclusion of the São Paulo - Morumbi, Fradique Coutinho, Oscar Freire and 
Higienópolis-Mackenzie stations, the construction of a new station and urban bus terminal in Vila Sônia.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
In 2013, the São Paulo Metro Company proceeded with the development of the pertinent executive 
projects and the construction work on extensions 1 and 2.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Stretch 1 encompasses those stations executed partially in the first phase, the Vila Sônia city bus Terminal, 
and expansion work on the Vila Sônia Patio. The project is ongoing on a number of fronts, in particular the 
Higienópolis-Mackenzie Station tunnel, the Ouro Preto access line at the same station, the Jardins access 
tunnel at the Oscar Freire Station, the Fradique access, and the initial finishing work on the Fradique 
Coutinho Station, in addition to the metallic mezzanine structure at the São Paulo Station – Morumbi, as 
well as excavation of the Morumbi-North access tunnel. Moreover, work continues on the pre-cast 
structures at the Vila Sônia Bus Terminal and Block A of the Vila Sônia Patio.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The objective of stretch 2 is the construction of the Vila Sônia Station and a stretch of the NATM tunnel. 
The primary activities in 2013 centered on development of the executive project, the initial phase of 
implementation of the traffic detours on Av. Francisco Morato, excavation of the open pit (Vala a Céu 
Aberto – VCA) connecting to the future site of the Vila Sônia Station, and the David Matarasso emergency 
escape tunnel.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The São Paulo Metro Company also moved ahead with expansion of the Line 4 – Yellow, as part of phase 3 
of the project, consisting specifically of lengthening the track to Taboão da Serra through construction of 
two stations, Taboão da Serra and Jardim Jussara, and a 3.1-kilometer extension.   
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 Line 5 – Purple                                                                                                        
                                                                                                   
The section in operation of Line 5 - Lilac, between Capão Redondo and Largo Treze stations, in the southern 
region of the city, has a length of 8.4 km, six stations and a train parking and maintenance yard. Such 
section is integrated to the intermunicipal buses in the Capão Redondo and Campo Limpo stations, to the 
municipal buses in all stations and to CPTM at the Santo Amaro station.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The expansion underway encompasses the construction of 11.7 kilometers of track, 11 new stations, and 
the purchase of 26 new trains. The new section will connect the Largo Treze Station to the Chácara Klabin 
Station in Vila Mariana, ultimately merging with Line 1 – Blue at the Santa Cruz Station, Line 2 – Green at 
the Chácara Klabin Station, and Line 17 – Gold at the Campo Belo Station.                                                                                                        
 
Largo Treze – Adolfo Pinheiro Station Tunnel Section – Running 636 meters, the section’s raw work has 
been completed, with the finishing and urban infrastructure portion of the project now entering its final 
stage of execution. A first test run of the train between the Largo Treze Station and the Adolfo Pinheiro 
Station has been conducted. 
                                                                                                        
Other Sections under Expansion – In 2013, execution of the public works on the section extending from the 
Adolfo Pinheiro Station to the Chácara Klabin Stations continued, as well as the Guido Caloi Yard. In 
addition, two tunneling machines were placed into operation, one to excavate a double tunnel running 
between the Bandeirantes pit and the Dionísio da Costa pit and another to bore a single tunnel between 
the Conde de Itu pit and the Bandeirantes pit. The third tunneling machine, which will be deployed to 
excavate a single tunnel parallel to the single tunnel now underway, is in the final assembly stage.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
 Line 6 - Orange                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Line 6 - Orange will link, in phase I, Vila Brasilândia, in the northern zone of the Capital, to the São Joaquim 
station (Line 1 - Blue), in a length of 15.9 km and 15 stations, serving the Brasilândia, Freguesia do Ó, 
Pompeia, Perdizes, Sumaré and Bela Vista districts. It will be integrated to Lines 7 and 8 of CPTM in the 
future Água Branca station; Line 4 - Yellow in the future Higienópolis-Mackenzie station; and Line 1 - Blue in 
the São Joaquim station.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The foreseen demand is of 633.6 thousand passengers/day, in phase I, with benefits also to major 
education centers, such as Universidade Paulista - Unip, Pontifical Catholic University - PUC, Fundação 
Armando Álvares Penteado - Faap, Mackenzie and Faculdade Metropolitanas Unidas – FMU. For such 
reason, it is already know as “the universities’ line”.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Construction of the line was accomplished through a Public-Private Partnership (PPP). The contract was 
signed on December 18, 2013 between the São Paulo State Government and the Move São Paulo 
Consortium. Initial implementation of the line is scheduled for 2014.                                                                                                        
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 Line 15 – Silver                                                                                                         
                                                                                                        

Line 15 – Silver will be the first mass transit monorail line in Brazil. The system will extend 24.5 kilometers, 
connecting Vila Prudente to the Cidade Tiradentes Hospital, and include 17 stations and 2 train yards – 
Oratório and Ragheb Chohfi – each with a capacity for 28 units. Subsequently, a 2.2-kilometer connection 
will be built between Vila Prudente and Ipiranga to integrate the CPTM’s new Line 10 – Turquoise, bringing 
the line’s total to 26.7 kilometers.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Line 15 – Silver will serve approximately 550,000 commuters every day, according to the operational 
project. To build the line, simultaneous state-of-the-art technical solutions were adopted: Communications 
Based Train Control; fully automatic Unattended Train Operation; operation at a height of 15 meters; 
resolution of the pertinent operational and maintenance issues; track switch equipment; delivery of the 
project’s unprecedented needs, including, implementation, tests, and logistics; and low specific headway. 
These were critical issues which exponentially raised the need to adopt effective precaution with respect to 
reliability and, above all, security, in addition to ensuring conformity with domestic and international 
standards.                                                                                                        
 
The unique nature of the project and implementation of innovative features received widespread 
recognition from the global engineering community. At the 60th edition of the UITP World Congress and 
Mobility and City Transport Exhibition in Geneva, Switzerland, the Line 15 – Silver project was a key 
highlight, receiving the International Union of Public Transit (UITP)’s Innovation in Intermodal 
Transportation award on May 28, 2013.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Construction of the line is currently moving quickly: 14.5 kilometers are underway, specifically: 2.9 
kilometers between the Vila Prudente Station and the Oratório Station; 10.1 kilometers running from the 
Oratório Station to the São Mateus Stations; and 1.5 kilometers extending from the São Mateus Station to 
the Iguatemi Station. Along the full extension of the project, 598 beams have been installed (77% of the 
total), 471 along the track and 127 at the Oratório Yard, totaling 7.07 kilometers of completed double 
tracks. The elevated monorail track connecting the Vila Prudente Station to the Oratório Station and the 
Oratório Station to the Oratório Yard has been completed. The Oratória Station is 98% finished, while 70% 
of the Vila Prudente Station has been executed. 
                                                                                                        
In October 2013, the first complete train car was delivered and in December 2013, the second. In addition, 
in December 2013 the initial test run of the 1st train was conducted at the Oratório Yard. This was followed 
in December 27, 2013, by testing of the 1st complete train composed of seven rail cars and its propulsion 
system from the Oratório Yard to the Oratório Station with the operational electrical systems mounted on 
the energized track.          
                                                                                               
 Line 17 – Gold                                                                                                         
                                                                                                        
Conceived to operate in the monorail system, Line 17 - Gold makes the connection from the Congonhas 
Airport to the Metro-railway network, forming a perimeter connection between the southern and 
southeastern regions, joining the whole railway system in those regions, as well as the main bus corridors.                                                                                                        
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With a business length of 17.7 km and 18 stations, it connects, through a branch, the Congonhas Airport to 
the Jabaquara station of Line 1 - Blue, in one direction, and to the São Paulo - Morumbi station of Line 4 - 
Yellow in the other direction. The line will also be integrated to Line 5 - Lilac in the Campo Belo station and 
to Line 9 - Emerald of CPTM in the Morumbi-CPTM station and will serve an estimated 252,000 passengers 
/ day demand.                                                                                                      
                                                                                                        
The section 1 track work between the Vila Paulista, Congonhas, and Morumbi-CPTM stations, stretching 7.7 
kilometers and encompassing 8 stations, was initiated in April 2012. Of the total of 556 crossbeams 
provided for in the project design, 202 have been installed to date.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
This phase includes the Água Espraiada Yard, intended to serve as a maintenance and parking facility for 24 
trains. The project was contracted in May 2013. To date, 538 of the projected 1,960 piles have been 
executed. 
                                                                                                        
The station construction projects have been contracted. At the Jardim Aeroporto Station, 39 of the 103 
piles provided for in the project design have been executed.                                                                                                        
 
 Line 18 – Bronze                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Line 18 - Bronze will be operated in the monorail system and will link the Tamanduateí station (where it will 
be integrated to Line 2 – Green São Paulo Metro Company and Line 10 - Turquoise of CPTM) to the City Hall 
in São Bernardo do Campo (where the ABD metropolitan bus corridor of EMTU is located), with 14.3 km 
and 12 stations. In the future, it will be integrated to Line 20 - Pink in the Afonsina station. Line 18 - Bronze 
will serve the cities of São Caetano do Sul, São Bernardo do Campo, Santo André and São Paulo. 
                                                                                                        
Part of the line path passes by the Meninos stream and its implementation shall promote the urban 
requalification around the Lauro Gomes and Guido Aliberti avenues, helping to joint both sides cut by the 
stream. The line will also serve the areas with poor transport service, such as Heliópolis, and to important 
educational facilities of ABC, such as Uniban, Instituto Mauá, Universidade Metodista, Fundação Santo 
André and Universidade Municipal de São Caetano do Sul.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Similarly to Line 6 – Orange, Line 18 – Bronze will be executed under a PPP contract. The project has been 
approved by the State’s PPP Management Committee. Publication of the bid notice is scheduled for January 
2014. The Environmental Impact Study (EIA-Rima) has been completed and submitted to the São Paulo 
Environmental Technology and Sanitation Company (Companhia de Tecnologia e Saneamento Ambiental – 
CETESB). The Advance Environmental License (Licença Ambiental Prévia – LAP) was obtained on June 25, 
2013.   
 
 Line 20 – Pink                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Line 20 - Pink is conceived as an integral part of the future Metro network, with a perimeter configuration 
that will interlink the cities of São Paulo and São Bernardo do Campo. The Lapa-Moema initial section will 
have 12.3 km and 14 stations and the subsequent section, Moema-Afonsina (in Rudge Ramos, São 
Bernardo do Campo), will have 12.7 km and more 11 stations. 
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In 2012, implementation of the line was reviewed and approved by the PPP Management Committee, 
which authorized a public call for the submission of proposals by parties with an interest in preparing 
modeling studies. In 2013, a single study was submitted by Invepar – Investimentos e Participações S/A. 
The final modeling design is under development.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
 Job Creation                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Construction of Line 4 – Yellow and Line 5 – Purple, heavy metro rail projects, and Line 15 – Silver and Line 
17 – Gold, both monorail projects, were responsible for creating 50,000 jobs, not including the São Paulo 
Metro Company’s professional staff.      
 
       
                                                                          
PERFORMANCE                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
 Operation                                                                                                        

                                                                                                        
In 2013, the São Paulo Metro Company registered 889 million passenger entries, 1.4% higher than the year 
before. If passenger transfers between lines at the Sé, Paraíso, and Ana Rosa stations are included, the 
system carried  1.107 billion riders. The average demand on business days was 3.0 million passenger entries 
and 3.7 million riders, the same level as the prior year.                                                                                                        
 
With respect to weekends, Saturday ridership climbed in relation to 2012 with an average of 1.6 million 
passenger entries and 2.1 million riders (increases of 2.0% and 3.1%,respectively), while demand on 
Sundays remained stable, recording similar levels to the previous year (913,000 passenger entries and 1.2 
million riders).                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The average demand of passengers transferring from the CPTM to the São Paulo Metro Company on 
business days grew 3.0%. In 2013, the average number of free transfers on business days was 410,000.     
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Evolution of passengers transported¹ in the network 

                                                                                                        
Average of business days                                                                                                        

                                                                                                        
                            Thousands                                                                                                        

 
                                                                                                        

¹ Includes the entries in the gates and the transfers between lines in the Sé, Paraíso and Ana Rosa stations.                                                                                                        

                                         
 
                                                  
 Accessibility                                                                                                        

                                                                                                        
In 2013, adjustments to the topographic profiling of tactile floors for boarding and alighting at the 
Anhangabaú and Arthur Alvim Stations were implemented. The proposal, the product of a series of 
meetings with the representatives of disabled population segments, was aimed at providing individuals 
with special needs additional accessibility options. Through the proposal, in addition to station elevator 
access points new access routes were installed in stairways where operationally feasible. The outcomes of 
this effort will be assessed and, if approved, new directives will be issued for the system’s remaining 
stations.                                                                                                        
 
In 2013, a total of 2,384 employees received operational training in providing assistance to disabled 
passengers and pushing disabled passengers in wheelchairs.         
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 Security                                                                                                        

                                                                                                        
In 2013, the São Paulo Metro Company registered 1.01 criminal offenses per one million riders, a figure 
7.3% below that of the year before. The drop in crime reflects the improvements secured in public security 
measures, driven not only by the adoption of a model based on scientific analyses of the information 
amassed on criminal activity in the system, but the enhanced professional development and training of 
personnel in responding to adverse situations. 
                                                                                                        
Another factor underlying the decrease in criminal activity was the Public Security Control Center (Centro 
de Controle de Segurança – CCS), which has primary responsibility for managing the system’s various 
strategies and emergency response events from a monitoring center equipped with video, radio, mobile 
and fixed line equipment, as well as security vehicles stationed at strategic points.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Fire Drills – The company conducted 28 fire drills in 2013 at the Line 1 – Blue, Line 2 – Green, Line 3 – Red, 
and Line 5 – Purple stations, for the purpose of employee training and/or retraining and providing the Fire 
Brigade with the opportunity to conduct a thorough review of the Metro system’s characteristics and 
ensure the safety of users and public property in the event of an emergency.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
 Maintenance                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
With the continuous increase in the demand of passengers and the expansion of the Metro lines, there was 
a significant increase of the maintenance interventions, demanding investments in infrastructure, technical 
personnel, instruments and constant training.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Modernization of trains - In 2013, was the management of the receiving and tests of the  modernized 
trains and the new systems being implemented, besides keeping trains and equipment in compliance with 
the quality requirements, providing high availability indexes to the system users.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Another milestone in 2013 was the continued modernization of the fleet of 98 trains line 1 – Blue  and Line 
–Red process, which will enable the technological upgrading of equipment and improved comfort for users. 
In 2013, they were received in the Company's 16 more modernized subway trains, totaling 46 trains.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The Company received the first Subway train fleet P. This is 26 new trains with six cars each, acquired for 
Line 5-Lilac, which provide services in the coming years.                                                                                                        
 
Communication systems - the Voice and Data Mobile Communication System - SCMVD is being 
implemented, based on the state-of-the-art communication technologies via digital radio, which consists of 
a high availability network with coverage in all stations, ways and yards, linking the equipment installed in 
those facilities to  the equipment on board of the trains in movement.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Signaling and control systems - the new signaling and control system (Communication Based Train Control 
- CBTC) of Line 1 - Blue, Line 2 - Green and Line 3 - Red, started in the Sacomã - Vila Prudente section (Line 2 
- Green) is in business operation since the month of September/2010.       
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Currently, tests are being conducted on a new system designed for implementation along the entire line. To 
this end, early-morning tests have been performed on weekdays and Sundays, leading to interruptions in 
commercial operations at different points of the line. Through late 2013, a large portion of Line 2 – Green 
had been tested. Completion of the remaining tests and implementation of the CBTC’s signaling system are 
scheduled for the first half of 2014.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Permanent Track – Renovation of the Line 3 – Red ballast track continued in 2013. To date, 72% of the 
project has been completed. Modernization work on the Line 3 – Red electric supply system led to the full 
replacement of 51.7 km of the third rail, leaving only a number of minor technical details to address. In 
addition, implementation of the escape route along Line 1 – Blue, Line 2 – Green, Line 3 – Red, and Line 5 – 
Purple was completed.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
An additional effort involved the acoustic and vibration systems for Lines 1 – Blue, Line 2 – Green, Line 3 – 
Red, and Line 5 – Purple. Finally, studies were performed on the installation of a LED lighting system in the 
Metro’s network of tunnels, as well as a vibration attenuation solution along Line 2 – Green in the area 
around the São Paulo Museum of Art (MASP).                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
 2012/2013 São Paulo Metropolitan Area Mobility Survey                                                                                                        

                                                                                                        
In the second half of 2013, the 2012 mobility survey was completed. The survey’s purpose was to update 
the metropolitan area’s mobility indicators published in the 2007 Origin and Destination Survey (Pesquisa 
de Origem e Destino 2007). The study included surveys of approximately 8,000 households, nearly 33,000 
interviews along highways and roadways, and 21,000 interviews at bus terminals and airports, with a view 
to collecting  information on commutes and travel time into and out of the São Paulo Metropolitan Region. 
The results of the study will be published in early 2014.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
 Ombudsman: Customer Assistance                                                                                                        

                                                                                                        
In 2013, a total of 20,357 citizen reports were entered. Of that figure, 9,363 involved complaints; 7,915 
information requests; 1,321 suggestions; 731 customer compliments; and 520 complaints. The total figure 
corresponded to a 6% drop in relation to 2012.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Calls into the Customer Information Service (Serviço de Informação ao Cidadão – SIC) in 2013 increased 
166% against 2012. The Metro’s SIC service was inaugurated on June 13, 2012.      
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Manifestation type 2012/2013 

                                                                                                        
                                                 

 
Legend:                                                                                                        
Complaint                                                                                                        
Information                                                                                                        
Suggestion                                                                                                         
Praise                                                                                                        
Accusation                                                                                                         
SIC                                                                                                        
Thanks                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Source: Ombudsman   
                                                                                                      
                                                                                                        
 Measures to Foster Relations with Communities Bordering Metro Projects                                                                                                        

                                                                                                        
Over time, an driving concern of the São Paulo Metro has been to establish a solid relationship and 
dialogue with various stakeholder segments on the full range of issues pertinent to the company. There has 
been a steady increase in public demand to address both the positive and negative impacts of Metro 
expansion and public works projects, whether stemming from the enactment of new legislation or 
environmental regulations, the requirements of funding institutions, or, further, corporate social 
responsibility policies and the imperative of preserving the company’s image among the city’s population.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
In 2013, the São Paulo Metro Company responded to inquiries and consultations from 4,926 city residents.                                                                                                        
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Public Relations Measures with Populations Bordering Expansion Projects                                                                                                        

                                                                                                       

 
                                                                                                    

Legend:                                                                                                                                                                                                               
FUTURE SYSTEM                                                                                                                                                                                                               
Public Relations                                                                                                                                                                                                               
Impact of Projects                                                                                                                                                                                                               
Expropriation (Rights-of-Way)                                                                                                                                                                                                               
 
Source: Coordinator of Community Service 
 
 
ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                        
A critical component of the Metro system’s growth, modernization, and network operation involve 
sustainability and social responsibility guidelines, strategic elements for managing the efforts undertaken to 
promote urban mobility and expand socio-environmental benefits to the metropolitan population.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
In response to this setting and the increased participation of organized civil society, compliance with 
increasingly stringent environmental laws, and the expanded requirements of regulatory and funding 
agencies, the Metro has sought to enhance its communication channels and relationships with key 
stakeholders.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
The Metro worked with all three branches of government to optimize environmental licensing procedures 
for new projects and actively took part in a technical group established by the state government with the 
representatives of various public agencies aimed at assessing existing procedures and regulations and 
proposing mechanisms to reduce licensing times.                                                                                                        
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 Sustainability Report    
                                                                                                     

The sustainability measures, outcomes, and indicators set out in the Global Reporting Initiative – GRI were 
reported and published in the third Sustainability Report, based on 2012 data. The report was released in 
electronic form on the Company’s site and in magnetic file format.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
 Expansion: Environmental Licenses                                                                                                        

                                                                                                        
In 2013, 31 environmental license management actions were executed, 18 in connection with project 
implementation and 13 with project operations, encompassing 627 demands. 
 

Project Section/Station 
Advance 

Environmental License 
(LP) 

Implementation 
Environmental License 

(LI) 

Operating 
Environmental License 

(LO) 

Line 2 – Green 

Vila Prudente-Dutra New LP requested due 
to modification of the 
section running from 
Paulo Freire Station to 
the Dutra Station with 
the inclusion of the 
Ponte Grande Station 

  

Line 4 – Yellow                                                                                                        Paulista-Luz – Phase 2  LI 524 Renewed  

Line 5 – Purple 
Largo Treze-Adolfo 
Pinheiro 

  
LO Requested 

Line 6 – Orange                                                                                                        Brasilândia-São 
Joaquim 

License granted for 
project 

  

 
 
 
 
Line 15 – Silver 

Vila Prudente-Ipiranga 
Application under 
review 

  

Oratório-Cidade 
Tiradentes 

 Licenses for section 
between São Lucas 
Station and São 
Mateus Station and 
the Ragueb Chohfi 
Yard granted 

 

Vila Prudente-
Oratório 

  Lo Requested for 
Project 

Line 17 – Gold 

Jabaquara-Morumbi  Partial licenses for the 
sections encompassing 
the 8 stations granted, 
running from the 
Jardim Aeroporto 
Stations to the 
Morumbi Station 

 

Line 18 - Bronze Tamanduateí-
Alvarengas 

LP granted   

                                                                                                        
Source: Management and Sustainability Department                                                                                                        
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ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESSES                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        

 Management of People                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        

Distribution of the headcount                                                                                                        
 
Area No. of employees - 2013 No. of employees - 2012 

Operation 4,565 4,592 

Maintenance 2,845 2,866 

Management 1,039 1,039 

Expansion 764 670 

Financial 264 211 

Total 9,477 9,378 

                                                                                                        
Source: Human Resources Management                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        

Indicators of the headcount 
 

Indicators 2013 2012 
Number of employees                                                                                                        9.477  9,378 
 Hired in the fiscal year                                                                                                        453  826 
 Dismissed in the fiscal year                                                                                                        354  387 
Division by gender                                                                                                           
 Male                                                                                                        7.594  7,568 
 Female                                                                                                        1.883  1,810 
Age range                                                                                                           
 Up to 25 years                                                                                                        629  748 
 Between 26 and 35 years                                                                                                        1.697  1,635 
 Between 36 and 45 years                                                                                                        2.017  2,042 
 Between 46 and 55 years                                                                                                        3.423  3,476 
 Between 56 and 65 years                                                                                                        1.606  1,400 
 More than 66 years                                                                                                        105  77 
Average service time (years)                                                                                                        16,62  16,13 
Education                                                                                                           
 Master/doctor                                                                                                        89  86 
 Post-degree                                                                                                        418  411 
 University                                                                                                        2.988  2,895 
 High School                                                                                                        5.195  5,169 
 Elementary School                                                                                                        693  721 
 Elementary School (incomplete)                                                                                                        94  96 
Number of trainees                                                                                                        198  168 
Number of disabled and rehabilitated employees                                                                                                        250  218 
Number of dependents of employees                                                                                                        13.796  13,800 
Number of young citizens                                                                                                        397  653 

 
Source: Human Resources Management      
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 Training, Capacity Building, and Corporate University                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Inauguration of the New UNIMETRO – On December 29, 2013, the Corporate University of the São Paulo 
Metro (UNIMETRO) was inaugurated. The facility included a 170-seat auditorium and two smaller 80-seat 
auditoriums, 20 classrooms, and faculty room, and three computer labs, in addition to a separate space 
operated by the National Industrial Training Service (Serviço Nacional de Aprendizagem Industrial – SENAI).                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
MBA Program – Integrated Approach to Urban Rail Systems – VISTU – 1st Class – The São Paulo Metro 
Company and POLI/USP signed an agreement to administer the “Integrated Approach to Urban Rail 
Systems – VISTU MBA Program” for engineers, architects, and geologists. A unique concept, the program 
was  developed by professors at the Polytechnic School of the University of São Paulo (POLI/USP) and São 
Paulo Metro Company professionals with advanced specialized degrees and extensive experience in 
conceiving, implementing, operating, maintaining, and managing metro-rail systems.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Training and Capacity Building – over the course of the year, a number of educational and development 
activities were conducted with 20,294 participants, resulting in investments of 191,257 Hxh in company 
employees (including mandatory training programs).                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
 Workplace Safety, Occupational Health, and Quality of Life                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        
Prevention and Treatment Program for Chemical Dependence and Other Compulsions – The program, 
which celebrated its 24th anniversary in 2013 and initially was aimed at the treatment and prevention of 
alcoholism, today the initiative addresses various forms of dependence and compulsion: drugs, prescription 
drugs, gambling, sex, Internet, computer games, shopping, debt, smoking, and others.                                                                                                        
                                                                                                        

Events in 2013 Activities Participants 
Support Groups for Chemical Dependence                                                                                                        18 736 
Sponsor Groups                                                                                                        9 57 
Support Groups (managers)                                                                                                        7 60 
Chemical Dependence Prevention Week                                                                                                        13 2,014 
10th Meeting of Companies with Chemical Dependence Support 
Groups                                                                                                        

1 70 

Smoking Prevention                                                                                                        18 1,211 
Total                                                                                                        66 4,148 

                                                                                                        
Source: Human Resources Management                                                                                                        
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Time Is Your Friend Program – Aimed at providing retired or retiring professionals with information on the 
challenges of this news stage in their lives. 
                                                                                                        
Participants in the Time Is Your Friend Program                                           Activities                                   
 

    
  

                                                                                                       
Additional Quality of Life Social Programs 

                                                                                                        
Program Description Participants 2013 Participants 2012 

Healthy Living 
Station 

The 10th edition of the event, which fulfills State Law No. 
12,064/2005 establishing State Health Week, was held April 6-12 
in a number of locations within the company and included 
stands and educational activities aimed at raising awareness 
among employees and their family members of issues relating 
health, well-being, and quality of life. 

1,625 2,300 

Challenge Day 

The purpose of the initiative is to educate individuals on the 
importance of maintaining an active life. The key draw is a 
competition between cities of the Americas. 
In partnership with SESC-São Paulo 

1,211 - 

Move Brazil 
Campaign 

The objective was to stimulate daily physical exercise. 
In partnership with SESC-SP.  

118 - 

Youth Day 

17th  edition of the Youth Day consisting of sessions organized by 
the children of metro-rail workers between the ages of 12 and 
19 years. In 2013, the presentations and activities undertaken 
addressed two principal topics: Professions and Choices 
(January) and Financial Education (July).                                                                                                        

180 183 

Metro in Our Hearts 

The purpose is to honor those operational employees of the 
individual metro stations and the Security Unit who performed 
first aid emergency responses with Automated External 
Defibrillators – AED at metro stations, with the participation of 
external partnerships (Heart Institute – INCOR, Mobile 
Emergency  Response Service – SAMU, and São Paulo State Fire 
Brigade).                                                                                                        

69 - 

Posture and 
Stretching 
Instruction 

Offered since 2006, the program involves guided exercises and 
the distribution of information materials during training sessions 
and directly at work sites                                                                                                        

4,582 4,684 

Critical Post-Incident 
Intervention 

Measures to prevent health afflictions and injury among 
employees involved in events capable of causes emotional 
disorders or disturbances.                                                                                                        

452 224 

Social Assistance 
Individual assistance to employees and their family members on 
various social challenges, in addition to systematic follow-ups, 
home visits, and referrals to external resources                                                                                                        

1,617 1,515 

 
Source: Human Resources Management 
 
 
                                                                                                     

Groups Modules Presentations 
3 15 53 
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 Human Resources Management and Hiring                                                                                                        
 
Performance Management – As part of the strategy to improve organizational results, the São Paulo Metro 
Company applies performance management assessments, a continuous process of employee guidance, 
follow-up, and evaluation performed by the respective managers.                                                                                                        
 
Identification of New Talent – With a view to identifying and preparing a new generation of metro-rail 
leaders, 323 university educated professionals occupying Junior and Level I positions were engaged in a 
study to map skills and potential. In addition, the skill sets of another 480 employees in leadership positions 
were mapped.                                                                                                        
 
Salaries Raises – In 2013, a total of 2,758 salary raises were granted, the majority consisting of real average 
employee salary increases of 5%.                                                                                                        
 

Salary Raise 
2013 2012 
2,758 2,749 

 
Source: Human Resources Management                                                                                                        
 
New Positions – In 2013, selection processes were launched for the position of Metro-Rail Security Agent I 
and SENAI Apprentice, pursuant to law. A total of 453 new employees were hired through public 
examination procedures and for appointed positions.                                                                                                        
 

Hiring (public selection procedures) 
2013 2012 
  453   826 

 
Source: Human Resources Management                                                                                                        
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There was a 52% drop in hiring against 2012, as most of the company’s positions were filled, the number of 
terminations fell in the 2nd half of the year, and tight budget controls were applied.                                                                                                        
 
Opportunities for Young Persons – A total of 499 students were hired in partnership with specific 
institutions: Internships (Administrative Development Foundation – FUNDAP), SENAI Apprentices (National 
Industrial Training Service – SENAI), and Young Citizens/Education for Work Program (Social Program – 
Secretariat of Employment and Labor Relations – SERT). The new personnel hirings were accomplished 
through public examinations and selection procedures.                                                                                                        
 

Positions                                                                                                        Number 
SENAI Apprentices                                                                                                        55 

  Young Citizens                                                                                                        346 
Internships                                                                                                        98 

Total                                                                                                         499 
 
Source: Human Resources Management 
 
 Facility Infrastructure and Administrative Services                                                                                                        

 
In 2013, preventive maintenance, repairs, building maintenance, and infrastructure adjustments were 
performed on 23 administrative facilities covering an area of more than 30,000m2.                                                                                                        
 
Renovation of Block L of the Jabaquara Yard included a total redesign of the Corporate University with a 
50% increase in the number of training rooms and a 67% expansion in auditorium capacity. The 
modernization project included implementation of a central air conditioning system, insulation, and 
electrical system, telephone, and computer network upgrades.                                                                                                        
 
Existing environmental programs and improvement measures to combat from inappropriate water, electric 
power, and telephone use were bolstered.                                                                                                        
 
Source: Services and Infrastructure Department                 
 
 
 
CULTURAL ACTIVITIES AND SOCIAL CAMPAIGNS                                                                                                         
 
The Cultural Action Program provides the Metro users, free of charge, with artistic-cultural attractions of 
several languages in several stations. Those activities finally humanize and activate spaces so that the 
Metro station is not anymore a space just for passing to become a place of leisure, relationship and 
knowledge. Cultural Actions in 2013:       
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 Culture                                                                                                        
 Meeting Project                                                                                                        
 Piano in the Metro                                                                                                        
 Poetry in the Metro                                                                                                        
 Metro Security Unit Band                                                                                                        
 Permanent Exhibits                                                                                                        
 Partnerships and Agreements                                                                                                        

 Santa Cruz Station – Segall Laser Display                                                                                                        
 Trianon-MASP – MASP Display                                                                                                        
 Luz Station – Metro Art Gallery                                                                                                         
 Palmeiras-Barra Funda Station – Latin American Memorial                                                                                                        

 Festivals                                                                                                        
 Metro Art Project                                                                                                        
 Cultural Competition                                                                                                        
 Social Projects          

                                                                                               
Source: Corporate Marketing Department   
 
  
                                                                                                     
 Social Networks 

 
The São Paulo Metro actively participates on the digital social networks, providing users not only with 
information on the system’s status and operation, cultural activities, news, and user tips, but with an 
important and recognized customer relationship channel.                                                                                                        
 
The two most widely used social networks have a full 117,713 followers/like this: (71,339 on Twitter 
(@metrosp_oficial_ and 46,374 on Facebook (www.facebook.com/metrosp) . the São Paulo Metro also has 
official pages on YouTube (www.youtube.com/metrospoficial) and Flickr 
(http://www.flickr.com/photos/metrosp oficial).                                                                                                        
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Number of followers of Metro on Twitter and Facebook 

 

 
Legend  
Jan, Feb, Mar, Apr, May, Jun, Jul, Aug, Sep, Oct, Nov, Dec 
 
Source: Media Relations Department 
 
 

Subway monthly interactions with users on Twitter and Facebook 

 
Legend                                                                                                         
Subsidies                                                                                                         
Linear (TOTAL)                                                                                                        
 
Source: Media Relations Department                                                                                                        
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Posts (Facebook) 

 
 
Legend                                                                                                         
Jan, Feb, Mar, Apr, May, Jun, Jul, Aug, Sep, Oct, Nov, Dec                                                                                                        
 
Source: Media Relations Department                                                                                                        
 
 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE                                                                                                        
 
 Business 

 
The commercial exploitation of the remaining areas, operational areas and trains generated non-tariff 
income of R$ 158.15 million, 6.34% higher than 2012. The results arise from the business of commercial 
exploration of advertising spaces, maximization of the use of internal spaces, concession of properties, 
associated enterprises, remuneration for use of the Tietê and Jabaquara bus terminals and rental of space 
for Bilhete Único Smart Card equipment and assisted sale.                                                                                                        
 
Of all the commercial segments, the Tatuapé Metro shopping center, Boulevard Tatuapé, Santa Cruz, 
Itaquera, and Tucuruvi,  (inaugurated in April 2013) performed particularly well, registering positive results, 
while creating 2,500 direct and indirect jobs. For the year, total revenues in the segment were R$ 43.09 
million, 22.51% higher than 2012. In addition, the segment also had a major impact on user flows, 
principally on weekends, reflecting the rise in demand.                                                                                                        
 
The Tietê and Jabaquara bus terminals generated revenues of R$ 27.32 million, an increase of 3.9% 
compared to 2012.                                                                                                        
 
Media broadcasts in the system generated R$ 44.6 million, a 0.06% drop over 2012. The segment is 
composed of the Metro Media (R$ 25.2 million), TV Minuto (R$ 9.7 million), media on locking and blocking 
devices (R$ 222,000.00), advertising spaces (R$ 8.9 million) photographs, films, and Metro trademark use 
(R$ 465,000.00).                                                                                                        
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In addition to non-tariff revenues, the sale of physical space, agreements, and partnership projects allowed 
for the recovery of R$ 15 million in Urban Property and Land Tax assessments (Imposto Predial e Territorial 
Urbano – IPTU).                                                                                                        
 
 Financial Results                                                                                                        

 
In 2013, the Metro’s net revenues covered 102.68% of all costs incurred. Expenditures included service 
delivery costs, operating expenses, in addition to outlays for system expansion projects. The related 
amounts are calculated at the individual management level. In comparison to the prior fiscal year, total 
costs were 0.46% lower.                    
                                                                                     

Coverage Rate 2012-2013 
 

                                                                                                                                                                      In R$ million 
Description  2013 2012 
Total Revenues          2.055,10                                                                                                                    1,987.15  
   Fare + non-fare revenues 1.720,33                                                                                                                   1,632.87  
   Gratuities - reimbursement by the São Paulo 
State Government              274,89                                                                                                                       274,52  

   Other operational revenues                             59,88                                                                                                                               79,76 
Total Expenses           2.001,50                                                                                                                    1,944.05  
   Personnel 1.487,11                                                                                                                   1,314.36  
   Materials 63,64                                                                                                                        66,17  
   General expenses 450,75                                                                                                                      563,52  
Revenues/ expenses 102,68%                                                                                                         102.22% 

 
Source: Financial Management Control                                                                                                        
 
 Financial Resources                                                                                                         
 

The financial resources used by São Paulo Metro Company reached the amount of R$ 3,332.1 million, being 
R$ 3,057.2 million for investments (Current Network and Expansion), and R$ 274.9 million for the 
reimbursement of legal gratuities.                                                                                                        

 
The amount of R$ 3,057,2 billion - by way of a capital increase, the value of R$ 2,967,6 billion comes from 
the State of São Paulo, R$ 80.3 million of the Municipality of São Paulo and R$ 9.3 million from other 
resources of the Company from Metro.                                                                                                        
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Chart for comparison of the financial resources - 2013/2012 
 

 2013 2012 Variation 

1 - Investments (current network and expansion) 3,057.20 2,280.60 34.10% 
Current network 488 510.9 -4.50% 
Requalification and modernization 400.4 447.1  
- Line 1 - Blue - Tucuruvi-Jabaquara 147.5 182.7  
- Line 2 - Green - Vila Madalena-Vila Prudente 28.2 65.7  
- Line 3 - Red - Barra Funda-Itaquera 221.7 196.5  
- Line 5 - Lilac - Capão Redondo-Largo Treze - 2.2  
- Line 5 – Lilac – Largo Treze – Chácara Klabin 3 -  
Operation of the lines 79.1 62.3  
Accessibility and others 8.5 1.5  
Network expansion 2,569.20 1,769.70 45.20% 
(1)-Line 2 - Green - Vila Madalena-Dutra  111.5 518.4  
Line 4 - Yellow - Vila Sônia-Luz (phases I and II) 97.3 184.3  
Line 4 - Yellow - Vila Sônia-Taboão da Serra (phases II) 1.9 -  
Line 5 - Lilac - Largo Treze-Chácara Klabin 1,314.90 797.2  
Line 6 - Orange - Brasilândia-São Joaquim 1.8 27.6  
(2)- Line 15 - Silver - Ipiranga-Cidade Tiradentes  715.5 21  
Line 17 - Gold - São Judas-Congonhas-Jabaquara-Morumbi 326.3 221.1  
Line 18 – Tamanduateí (SP)-São Bernardo do Campo - 0.1  
2 – Reimbursement of Gratuities and Subsidies to Students 274.9 274.5 0.10% 
    
3 - Total uses = (1+2) 3,332.10 2,555.10 30.40% 
    
4.  State Government of São Paulo 3,242.50 2,272.70 42.70% 
    
5 - Municipality of São Paulo 80.3 214.5 -62.60% 
    
6 - Others 9.3 67.9 -86.30% 
    
7 - Total sources = (4+5+6) 3,332.10 2,555.10 30.40% 
 
(1) Old Line of 15 White – Vila Prudente - Dutra 
(2) Old Extension of Line 2 – Green – Vila Prudente – Cidade Tiradentes  
 
Sources: Management of Financial Planning 
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THANKS 
 

We thank our employees, users, shareholders, suppliers and all of those that contributed to the performance 
of the São Paulo Metro in the year 2013. In addition, we trust in the constant commitment and dedication as 
base for the performance our work, always in line with the actions taken by the São Paulo State Government.                                                                                                        
 
 
 
 
BALANCE SHEET                                                                                                        
 
In 2013, the method applied to calculate the system’s social benefit was submitted to a broad review. New 
computation formulas were introduced and the respective indices and parameters updated.                                                                                                        
 
Based on the new calculation, the Metro enterprise generated a social benefit of R$ 9.6 billion. Time 
savings was the key benefit offered by the system, accounting for 68% of the total.                                                                                                        
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Social Benefits in 2013 (Savings – Millions of Reais)*                                                                                                        
 

 
 
 
Legend                                                                                                         
commute time                                                                                                        
operating time                                                                                                        
fuel consumption                                                                                                        
accidents                                                                                                        
pollution emissions                                                                                                        
track operation and maintenance                                                                                                        
TOTAL                                                                                                        
 
Source: Metropolitan Transit Planning and Integration Department                                                                                                         
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Description Units 

(Average Prices) 
2013 2012 

Quantity 
(thousand) 

Amount 
(million) 

Quantity 
(thousand) 

Amount 
(million) 

Reduction in the emission of pollutants ton/year                                                                                                        873 105 902 217 
Reduction in the consumption of fuel liters/year                                                                                                        426,400 987 461,833 969                                                                                                        
Reduction in the operating cost of bus km/year 245,311 1,324 271,725 1,388                                                                                                        
Reduction in the operating cost with cars km/year                                                                                                                                                                                                               1,603,656 310 1,359,946 805                                                                                                        
Reduction in the operating cost with 
motorcycle km/year                                                                                                                                                                                                               360.056 45 - - 

Reduction of the maintenance cost and 
operation of ways -                                                                                                        - 55 - 52                                                                                                        

Reduction in the time of travels hours/year                                                                                                        1,036,030 6,536 666,707 3,614                                                                                                        
Reduction in the cost with accidents accidents                                                                                                        19 263 14 164                                                                                                        

Total  9,625  7,209                                                                                                        
 
The 33.52% increase over the Social Benefit calculation for 2012 was directly related to inflation (5.91%), 
the higher minimum monthly salary (9%), and fluctuations in the exchange rate (14.35%).                                                                                                        
 
From 2004-2013, the Metro accrued a positive net benefit of R$80.3 billion, a total that would be sufficient 
to ensure a return on the full investment executed in the metro-rail system’s construction projects. 
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Statement of social benefit 
                                                                          
 (In R$ million) adjusted 
Description                                                                                                                                                    2013                                                                                                        2012                                                                                                        
Accounting loss of the fiscal year                                                                                                                                                    (76.4)                                                                                                        (28.4)                                                                                                        
Total social benefits                                                                                                                                                    9,625.0                                                                                                        7,209.0                                                                                                        
Result of social benefits                                                                                                                                                    9,548.6                                                                                                        7,180.6                                                                                                        
 
 
 
 
The graph below provides the Social Benefits accrued in the period 2004-2013 
 

EVOLUTION OF THE SOCIAL BENEFIT RESULT 
 

 
 
Legend                                                                                                         
Result of the social benefit in the fiscal year                                                                                                        
                                                                                                                                                    
Values at average prices of 2013, adjusted by IGP-DI-FGV                                                                                                        
                                                                                                                                                    
                                                                                               
                                                      
The graph underscores the economic importance of the service provided over the course of this period, 
centered on the social return obtained on the investments executed in the corresponding time interval.                                                                                                        
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô

Balance sheets 
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and January 1, 2012
(In thousands of Brazilian Reais)

Assets Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Note

2013 2012 01.01.2012
Note

2013 2012 01.01.2012
Current (Adjusted) (Adjusted) Current (Adjusted) (Adjusted)

Cash and cash equivalents 5 458.728         770.701            914.367            Trade accounts payable 11 466.617         462.001            512.332            
Accounts receivable 6 275.675         33.182              10.081              Provision for vacation pay 125.092         108.192            98.773              
Inventories 859                651                   3.662                Taxes and social contributions 12 149.017         126.691            87.458              
Restricted bank accounts 7 223.842         293.011            361.480            Benefit plan 13 17.993           16.807              17.274              
Recoverable taxes 10.512           14.416              15.507              Partnerships, agreements and others 14 359.816         229.544            267.790            
Advances and others 17.015           13.717              6.426                1.118.535       943.235            983.627            
Prepaid expenses 6.472             6.894                9.086                

993.103        1.132.572        1.320.609        Non-current
Provision for contingencies 15 633.520         609.425            595.959            

Non-current Taxes and social contributions 12 182.231         147.813            115.799            
Administrative and court deposits 420.600         364.512            546.546            Benefit plan 13 58.504           86.643              71.209              
Investments 8 318.829         375.468            454.229            Deferred taxes 23 a 74.634           93.892              120.277            
Property, plant and equipment 9 21.185.547     18.010.769        15.667.586        Partnerships, agreements and others 14 406.895         433.573            421.240            
Intangible assets 4.894             2.694                3.296                Deferred revenues 3.535             4.178                4.821                
Deferred charges 10 52.954           64.726              76.879              1.359.319     1.375.524        1.329.305        

21.982.824   18.818.169      16.748.536      Shareholders’ equity 16
Capital stock 25.320.685     22.272.737        20.187.498        
Advance for future increase in capital 171.528         251.854            338.885            
Asset and liability valuation adjustment 114.450         139.488            233.480            
Accumulated losses (5.108.590)     (5.032.097)        (5.003.650)        

20.498.073   17.631.982      15.756.213      
Total assets 22.975.927   19.950.741      18.069.145      22.975.927   19.950.741      18.069.145      

-                   -                   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô

Statements of operations
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands of Brazilian Reais)

Note 2013 2012
 (Adjusted) 

Net revenue 18 1.999.890        1.911.935        

(-) Costs of services rendered 19 (1.731.728)         (1.646.491)         
(=) Gross profit 268.162           265.444           

(+/-) Operating expenses/ revenues
General and administrative 20 (389.449)            (427.669)            
Other operating revenues (expenses) 21 (9.449)               62.522               
(=) Operating income (loss) before financial income (130.736)          (99.703)            

Financial expenses (3.740)               (2.528)               
Financial revenues 57.983               74.862               
(=) Financial income, net 22 54.243             72.334             

(=) Operating income (loss) before Income and Social Contribution taxes (76.493)            (27.369)            

(-) Income and Social Contribution Taxes 23 -                    (1.078)               

(=) Loss for the year (76.493)            (28.447)            

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô

Statements of changes in shareholders’ equity
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(In thousands of Brazilian Reais)

Capital
Advance for future 
increase in capital

Asset and liability 
valuation adjustment

Accumulated 
losses Total

Balances as of January 1, 2012 20.187.498  338.885                        -                             (4.991.639)        15.534.744  

Adjustments 233.480                      (12.011)              221.469        

Balances as of January 1, 2012 (adjusted) 20.187.498  338.885                        233.480                     (5.003.650)        15.756.213  

Paid-in capital 2.085.239     (87.031)                          1.998.208     
Gains (losses) on investments and benefit plan (93.992)                       (93.992)         
Loss for the year (28.447)              (28.447)         

Balances as of December 31, 2012 (adjusted) 22.272.737  251.854                        139.488                     (5.032.097)        17.631.982  

Paid-in capital 3.047.948     (80.326)                          2.967.622     
Gains (losses) on investments and benefit plan (25.038)                       (25.038)         
Loss for the year (76.493)              (76.493)         

Balances as of December 31, 2013 25.320.685  171.528                        114.450                     (5.108.590)        20.498.073  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Statements of comprehensive income (loss) 
 As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(In thousands of Brazilian Reais)

2013 2012
 (Adjusted) 

Loss for the year (76.493)                     (28.447)                     

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Recognition of investments fair value (56.641)                      (77.604)                      
Deferred IR/CS (Income and Social Contribution 
taxes) on investments fair value 19.257                       26.385                       
Recognition of benefit plan fair value 12.342                       (42.773)                      

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year (101.535)                   (122.439)                   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô

Statements of cash flows
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands of Brazilian Reais)

              2.013 2012
 (Adjusted) 

(=) Loss for the year (76.493)           (28.447)               
Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortization 270.031           219.697               
Residual value of assets written off 10.050            1.216                  
Allowance for doubtful receivables (14.261)           (24.753)               
Income and Social Contribution Taxes -                 (1.078)                 
Gains (losses) on investments and benefit plan 4.645              (264)                    
Deferred Income and Social Contribution Taxes            (19.258)                (26.385)
ISS (Tax on Services) Process/ Provision for contingencies 58.513            44.126                

233.227         184.112             

Increase and decrease in asset and liability accounts
(Increase) in accounts receivable           (228.232)                    1.652 
(Increase) in restricted bank accounts              69.169                  68.469 
(Increase)/Decrease in advances and others              (8.693)                  (1.896)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories                 (208)                    3.011 
(Increase)/decrease in recoverable taxes                3.904                    1.091 
(Increase)/decrease in court deposits            (56.088)                182.034 
(Increase) in prepaid expenses                  422                    2.192 
Increase/(decrease) in trade accounts payable                4.616                (50.331)
Increase/(decrease) in provision for vacation pay            (16.757)                    9.419 
Increase/(decrease) in taxes and social contributions              55.983                  39.233 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenues                 (643)                     (643)
Increase/(decrease) in Partnerships, Agreements and Others            103.598                (25.913)
Net cash provided by operating activities 160.298         412.430             

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (3.436.783)       (2.554.304)           
Intangible assets (3.110)             -                     
Net cash from investing activities (3.439.893)     (2.554.304)         

Cash flows from financing activities

Paid-in capital 2.967.622        1.998.208            
Net cash from financing activities 2.967.622      1.998.208          

Net decrease in cash (311.973)        (143.666)            

Cash at beginning of period 770.701           914.367               
Cash at end of period 458.728           770.701               

Increase/(decrease) in cash, net (311.973)        (143.666)            

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô

Statements of value added
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(In thousands of Brazilian Reais)

2013 2012
(=) Revenues  (Adjusted) 
Revenues from services 2.103.547        2.045.399           
Allowance for doubtful accounts (14.261)           (24.753)              
Other revenues (expenses) (9.449)             9.434                 

2.079.837        2.030.080           

(-) Inputs acquired from third parties
Consumables (59.484)           (44.963)              
Other costs of services rendered (79.124)           (69.222)              
Electricity, services from third parties and other operating expenses (362.768)         (451.855)            
Losses on realization of assets (680)                (651)                   

(=) Gross added value 1.577.781      1.463.389         

(-) Depreciation and amortization (270.031)         (219.697)            

(=) Net value added 1.307.750      1.243.692         

(+/-) Value added received in transfer
Financial revenues and exchange rate gains (loss), net 56.024            72.239               

(=) Total value added to be distributed 1.363.774      1.315.931         

Added value distribution 
Payroll/Commissions and charges 1.043.908        938.265              
Management’s fees 22.456            2.178                 
Retirement and pension plan 29.563            27.885               
Profit Sharing 41.903            36.480               

1.137.830      1.004.808         
Taxes, fees and contributions
Federal, Municipal and State 297.465           311.933              

297.465         311.933            

Return on debt capital
Interest 1.781              2.296                 
Lease 3.191              25.341               

4.972             27.637              

Return on equity capital

Loss for the year (76.493)           (28.447)              

Total value added distributed 1.363.774      1.315.931         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(In thousands of Brazilian Reais, unless otherwise stated) 
 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô is a closely-held corporation located in São Paulo, state 
of São Paulo. Its main shareholder is the Government of the state of São Paulo (GESP). Companhia do 
Metropolitano de São Paulo – Metrô has the following activities described in its By-laws: 

 

ARTICLE 2 – Company’s activities: 

I. Planning, project, construction, implementation, operation and maintenance of subway, rail and 
road public transportation systems in the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo. 

II. Performing complementary or related work and services, required to the integration of the 
passenger transport system to the city’s urban complex. 

III. Construction and operation of passenger terminals; implementation and operation of parking lots. 
IV. Construction and trading, directly and indirectly, being allowed the participation of the private 

sector, of residential or commercial buildings, and also projecting, performing, and managing, 
directly or indirectly, any other work of interest of the Company or public. 

V. Sale of trademark, patent, name and logo; sale of advertising space and areas; rendering of 
complementary services of user support, by itself or through permit holders, with or without 
assignment of building use. 

VI. Sale of technology, directly or indirectly, through partnerships or consortiums; rendering of 
consulting services, technical support and services of operation and maintenance of equipment; 
construction and implementation of transport systems and passengers terminals, locally or abroad. 

VII. To issue, excluding printing, newspapers, magazines and other publications of technical and 
business content, with advertising allowed. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Management on March 12, 2014. 
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1. OPERATIONS 
 

In the year ended December 31, 2013, GESP contributed with funds amounting to R$ 2,967,622 as capital 
contribution, R$ 274,895 as reimbursement of gratuities (social action program), and the Municipal 
Government of São Paulo contributed with funds amounting to R$ 80,326 as capital increase in 2013. 

For 2014, Law No. 15.265 of December 26, 2013 was approved for the release of R$ 3,812,065 for 
investments, R$ 311,040 for the reimbursement of gratuities, as published in the Federal Register of the state 
of São Paulo on December 28, 2013. 

The following tables show the Company’s operations through its main physical data: 

 

 

 

 

 

2012 
Length in  

operation - km 
 

Fleet 
Km  

covered 

Number of passengers 
transported in the 

year 

 Line 1 – Blue 20.2 58 6,205,281 417,720,432 

Line 2 – Green 14.7 27 3,729,096 182,396,840 

Line 3 – Red 22 57 7,262,178 423,290,849 

Line 5 – Lilac 8.4 8 1,434,552 74,689,701 

Total 65.3 58 
(1) 

150 18,631,107 1,098,097,822 

Number of   
Stations (¹) 

23 

14 

18 

6 

2011 
Length in 

operation - km 
  

Fleet 
Km  

covered 

Number of passengers  
transported in the 

year 

Line 1 – Blue 20.2 58 7,341,468 433,539,001 

Line 2 – Green 14.7 27 4,223,094 163,245,160 

Line 3 – Red 22 57 8,593,640 427,118,220 

Line 5 – Lilac 8.4 8 1,359,406 63,331,730 

Total 65.3 58 
(1) 

150 21,517,608 1,087,234,111 

Number of  
Stations (¹) 

23 

14 

18 

6 

37 



 

 
 

 

(¹)Transfer Stations:   The stations Ana Rosa, Paraíso and Praça da Sé are considered “transfer stations” and 
interconnect two or more lines. To calculate the total number of stations in the subway system, they were considered 
only once. However, in the sum of each line, they were counted in the two lines they serve. For this reason the total 
states 58 and not 61 stations. 

 

 

2. PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

2.1. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of Companhia do Metropolitano –Metrô were prepared and are being presented 
according to Brazilian accounting practices and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  

The Brazilian accounting practices include those established by Brazilian corporate legislation and the 
Pronouncements, Guidelines and Technical Interpretations issued by the Committee of Accounting 
Pronouncements – CPC and approved by the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM). 

The presentation of the Statement of Value Added is required by Brazilian corporate law and accounting 
practices applicable to publicly-held companies. The IFRS do not require the presentation of this statement. 
Consequently, this is considered supplementary information by the IFRS, without detriment to the whole of 
the financial statements. 

The financial statements are presented in Brazilian Reais, which is the Company’s functional currency. 

2.2. Measurement basis 

The financial statements were prepared based on the historical cost, except for financial instruments 
measured at fair value through income (loss) and available for sale. 

 

2013 
Length in   

operation - km 
 
Fleet 

Km  
covered 

transported in the 
year 

Line 1 – Blue 20.2 58 6,268,504 416,550,132 

Line 2 – Green 14.7 27 3,576,128 185,952,501 

Line 3 – Red 22 57 7,022,972 426,264,190 

Line 5 – Lilac 8.4 8 1,464,616 77,971,020 

Total 65.3 58 
(1) 

150 18,332,220 1,106,737,843 

Number of   
Stations (¹) 

23 

14 

18 

6 

Number of passengers 
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2.3. Functional currency 

These financial statements are presented in Brazilian Reais (R$), which is the Company’s functional 
currency. All financial information presented in Real was rounded to the next unit, unless otherwise stated.  

2.4. Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the IFRS and CPC standards requires the 
Management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect accounting policies application and 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from those 
estimates. 

The estimates and assumptions are continuously reviewed. Reviews of accounting estimates are recognized 
in the year in which the estimates are reviewed and in any future years affected. 

Information on critical assumptions related to the adopted accounting practices that significantly affect the 
values recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes: 

Note 6 – Allowance for doubtful accounts 

Note 15 – Provision for contingencies 

Note 13 – Benefit plan 

 

2.5. Significant accounting policies 

2.5.1 Prior-year adjustments and reclassifications 

The financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2012, originally issued on February 20, 2013, 
and the opening balances of the balance sheet of January 1, 2012 (arising from the financial statements of 
December 31, 2011) are being restated as provided for in Technical Pronouncements CPC 23 - Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Estimates and Correction of Errors and CPC 26 (R1) – Presentation of the Financial 
Statements, for better reflecting the Company’s operations. To that end, the Company’s management 
reviewed the form of accounting and presentation of the balances of the financial statements considering, 
besides other adjustments presented below, the restatement of obligations related to Post-employment 
benefits, as required by Technical Pronouncement CPC 33(R1) – Benefits to employees, in effect as from 
January 1, 2013. 

Below is a summary of the financial statements originally presented in comparison with the financial 
statements now restated: 
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ASSETS (disclosed) (adjustments) (adjusted) (disclosed) (adjustments) (adjusted)

CURRENT
Cash and cash equivalents 770,701                      770,701                      914,367                      914,367                      
Accounts receivable 33,182                        33,182                        10,081                        10,081                        
Inventories (b) 179,199                      (178,548)              651                              140,255                      (136,593)              3,662                           
 Banks – restricted account 293,011                      293,011                      361,480                      361,480                      
Recoverable taxes (a) -                               14,416                  14,416                        -                               15,507                  15,507                        
Advances and others (a) 22,738                        (9,021)                   13,717                        21,933                        (15,507)                 6,426                           
Prepaid expenses 6,894                           6,894                           9,086                           9,086                           

1,305,725                   (173,153)              1,132,572                   1,457,202                   (136,593)              1,320,609                   

NONCURRENT

Administrative and court deposits (d) 364,227                      285                        364,512                      546,546                      546,546                      
 Investments (c) 86,563                        288,905                375,468                      87,533                        366,696                454,229                      
Property, plant and equipment (b) 17,837,616                173,153                18,010,769                15,530,993                136,593                15,667,586                
Intangible assets 2,694                           2,694                           3,296                           3,296                           
Deferred charges 64,726                        64,726                        76,879                        76,879                        

18,355,826                462,343                18,818,169                16,245,247                503,289                16,748,536                

TOTAL ASSETS 19,661,551                289,190                19,950,741                17,702,449                366,696                18,069,145                

December 31, 2012 January 1, 2012

 

 

 

LIABILITIES (disclosed) (adjustments) (adjusted) (disclosed) (adjustments) (adjusted)

CURRENT
Trade accounts payable 462,001             462,001             512,332             512,332             
Taxes and social contributions 126,691             126,691             87,458                87,458               
Provision for vacation pay 108,192             108,192             98,773                98,773               
Benefit plan (e) 12,575               4,232              16,807               12,017                5,257            17,274               
 Expropriations (g) 2,472                 (2,472)             -                      4,174                  (4,174)          -                      
 Partnerships, agreements and others (f) (g) 167,099             62,445            229,544             224,766             43,024         267,790             

879,030             64,205            943,235             939,520             44,107         983,627             

NONCURRENT
 Provision for contingencies (h) (l) 786,294             (176,869)        609,425             721,987             (126,028)      595,959             
Taxes and social contributions (l) -                      147,813         147,813             115,799       115,799             
Benefit plan (e) 60,312               26,331            86,643               80,137                (8,928)          71,209               
Deferred taxes (c) -                      93,892            93,892               -                      120,277       120,277             
Deferred revenues 4,178                 4,178                 4,821                  4,821                 
 Partnerships, agreements and others 433,573             433,573             421,240             421,240             

1,284,357         91,167            1,375,524         1,228,185          101,120       1,329,305         

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Capital stock 22,272,737       22,272,737       20,187,498        20,187,498       
 Advance for future increase in capital 251,854             251,854             338,885             338,885             
Asset and liability valuation adjustment (e) (c) 139,488         139,488             233,480       233,480             
 Accumulated losses (c) (e) (d) (f) (h) (5,026,427)        (5,670)             (5,032,097)        (4,991,639)         (12,011)        (5,003,650)        

17,498,164       133,818         17,631,982       15,534,744        221,469       15,756,213       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 19,661,551       289,190         19,950,741       17,702,449        366,696       18,069,145       
-                      -                  -                      -                      -                -                      

December 31, 2012 January 1, 2012

40 



 

Statement of operations (disclosed) (adjustments) (adjusted)

NET REVENUE (i) 1,637,416    274,519         1,911,935    

COST OF SERVICES RENDERED (1,646,491)  (1,646,491)  

GROSS (LOSS) PROFIT (9,075)          274,519         265,444       

OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
General and administrative (j) (413,530)      (14,139)          (427,669)      
 Depreciation and amortization (j) (14,139)        14,139           -                
Reimbursement of gratuities (i) 274,519       (274,519)        -                

56,181         6,341              62,522         

(106,044)      6,341              (99,703)        

 Financial expenses (k) (2,295)          (233)                (2,528)          
 Financial revenues (k) 72,239         2,623              74,862         
 Monetary losses (k) (233)              233                 -                
 Monetary gains (k) 2,623            (2,623)            -                

72,334         -                  72,334         

(33,710)        6,341              (27,369)        

Income and Social Contribution Taxes (1,078)          -                  (1,078)          

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (34,788)        6,341              (28,447)        

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE FINANCIAL 
INCOME

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME AND 
SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION TAXES

Other operating revenues (expenses) (c) (d) (e) (f) 
(h)

December 31, 2012

 

(a) Reclassification of recoverable taxes, previously presented in the caption "Advances and others". 

(b) Reclassification of inventories of replacement materials to property, plant and equipment. 

 
(c) Adjustment at the fair value of investments in equity securities available for sale, as required by CPC 38 
Financial Instruments: Measurement and Recognition. 
 
(d) Adjustment due to the reconciliation of deposits related to lawsuits. 
 
(e) Adjustment due to the review of the actuarial calculation of the effects of CPC 33 (R1), issued by the CPC 
and in effect as from January 1, 2013. 
 
(f) Adjustment due to the reconciliation of the balances of Credits Held by the Users of “Bilhete Único” (Single 
Ticket), which is the amount paid but not yet used by the users, as recognized by SPTrans. 
 
(g) Reclassification of the caption “Expropriations” to the caption "Partnerships, agreements and others". 
 
(h) Adjustment due to reversal of the provision for contingencies related to labor claims considered possible losses 
by the Company's advisors, pursuant to CPC 25 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Assets. 
 
 
(i) Reclassification of revenues from gratuities, previously presented separately from operating revenues. 
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(j) Reclassification of depreciation and amortization expenses to the caption general and administrative expenses. 
 
(k) Grouping of monetary gains and losses with financial revenues and expenses. 

(l) Reclassification of the provision for ISS (Tax on services) payable, previously presented in the caption 
Provision for contingencies. 

 

2.5.2 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and other highly-liquid short-term investments, with 
maturities of up to three months and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

2.5.3 Financial assets 

Classification 

The receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed payments that are not quoted on an active 
market. They are included in current assets, and comprise “Cash and cash equivalents", "Accounts 
receivable", "Restricted bank accounts", and "Advances".  

Recognition and measurement 

The receivables are accounted for at amortized cost.  

Offset of financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported on the balance sheet when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle them on a net 
basis or simultaneously realize the asset and settle the liability.  

Impairment of financial assets 

The Company evaluates by the end of each reporting period if there is evidence that the financial asset is 
impaired. 

A financial asset or group of assets is considered impaired, and result in impairment losses, only when there 
is objective evidence of impairment as the result of one or more events happening after the initial recognition 
of the asset (a "loss event") and the loss event (or events) have an impact on estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset or group of assets, which can be reliably estimated. 

2.5.4 Accounts receivable  

The accounts receivable correspond to amounts receivable from the sale of tickets, land, rental, 
reimbursement of expenses in general, contracts and partnerships. 

The accounts receivable are firstly recognized at fair value and then measured at the amortized cost by using 
the effective interest rate method, less impairment. Actually, they are normally recognized at their billed 
amount, adjusted by allowance for doubtful accounts, if applicable. 
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2.5.5 Inventories 

The inventories of materials intended for operation are classified in property, plant and equipment. The 
inventories of consumables are valued at average cost of acquisition, lower than replacement value. 

2.5.6 Investments 

The investments correspond to equity instruments classified as available for sale, valued at fair value. 

2.5.7 Intangible assets 

Acquired software licenses are capitalized according to costs incurred to acquire the software and make it 
ready for use. These costs are amortized during their estimated useful lives from three to five years. 

Software maintenance costs are recognized as expense, as incurred. Development costs directly attributable 
to identifiable and exclusive software project and product tests, controlled by the Company, are recognized 
as intangible assets. 

2.5.8 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. The historical 
cost includes expenses directly attributable to the acquisition of assets.  

 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow associated with the item and the item’s cost 
can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of items or spare parts is written off. All other repairs and 
maintenance are recorded against income for the year, as incurred. 

Plots of land are not depreciated. Depreciation of other assets is calculated using the straight line method to 
allocate costs to residual values during the estimated useful life. 

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each year end. 

The carrying value of an asset is immediately written down to its recoverable amount if the carrying value of 
the asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 9). 

Gains and losses from disposals are determined by comparing results with the carrying value and are 
recognized under “Other operating revenues/expenses, net” in the statement of operations. 

2.5.9 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets subject to depreciation and amortization are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the book value may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized to the 
extent the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The latter is the higher of the fair 
value of an asset less selling costs and its value in use.  
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2.5.10 Trade accounts payable and other liabilities 

Trade accounts payable and other accounts payable are obligations payable for assets or services acquired 
from suppliers in the ordinary course of business. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 
in a period of up to one year. Otherwise trade accounts payable are presented as non-current liabilities.  

They are firstly recognized at fair value and then measured at the amortized cost by using the effective 
interest rate method. In fact, they are normally recognized at the corresponding billed amount.  

2.5.11 Provisions 

The provisions for lawsuits (labor, civil and tax) are recognized when: The Company has a present or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of funds is required to settle 
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.  The provisions are not recognized in regard to 
future operating losses.  
 
In the case a series of similar obligations exist, the likelihood of settlement is determined considering the 
group of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even when the likelihood of settlement related to 
any individual item included in the same group of obligations is small. 

The provisions are measured at the present value of the expenses required to settle the obligation, at a rate 
before taxes that reflects the current market evaluations of the time value of money and of the specific risks 
of the obligation.  

2.5.12 Current and deferred income and social contribution taxes 

Income and social contribution tax expenses in the period include current and deferred taxes. Income taxes 
are recognized in the statement of operations, except when they are related to items directly recognized in 
shareholders’ equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in shareholders’ equity.  

Current income and social contribution tax charges are calculated according to enacted or substantially 
enacted tax laws, on balance sheet date in the country in which the Company operates and generates taxable 
income. The management periodically assesses the positions assumed by the Company in income tax returns 
in relation to the situations at which the applicable tax laws permit interpretations. The Company recognizes 
provisions, where appropriate, based on estimated payments to tax authorities. 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes are recognized by employing the liability method to 
temporary differences between the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and their financial statement 
carrying amounts. Deferred income tax and social contribution taxes are determined using enacted, or 
substantially enacted, tax rates (and laws) at the balance sheet date, and should be applied when the 
corresponding deferred tax asset is realized or when the deferred tax liability is settled. 

 
According to Note 23, the Company did not recognized deferred income and social contribution tax assets 
given that it does not project future taxable income. 
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2.5.13 Benefits to employees 

(a) Termination benefits 

As of December 31, 2013, the Company does not have termination benefit plans to employees.  

(b) Profit sharing 

Profit sharing is usually recognized under the straight-line method during the year. 

(c) Post-employment benefits 

According to Note 13, the Company, along with Metrus, is sponsor of pension plans offered to its 
employees, whose aspects and other information are presented in the mentioned note. 

2.5.14 Revenue recognition 

Revenue consists of the fair value of the consideration received or receivable over the Company’s normal 
course of activities. 

Revenue is stated net of taxes, rebates and discounts.  

The Company recognizes revenue when the amount of the revenue can be reliably measured and it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to Company. 

(a) Revenue from Tickets 

The Company provides services of subway transportation and revenues are recognized only when the service 
is used by the user.  

The services provided through the use of the one-travel ticket are recognized as revenue when the ticket is 
sold at the counter. 

(b) Revenue from Lease, Rental and Media. 

These are monthly provided for to meet the accrual basis.  

(d) Revenue from Gratuities 

These are monthly accounted for as received by the Government of the state of São Paulo. 

(e) Financial revenue 

The financial revenue is recognized according to the elapsed time using the effective interest rate method.  
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

3.1 Financial risk factors 

The Company is exposed to several financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate on fair 
value, interest rate on cash flow), price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s management risk 
program focuses on the unpredictability of finance markets and aims to reduce possible adverse effects on 
the Company’s financial performance. 

 
Risk management is performed by the Company’s top management and according to policies approved by 
the shareholders. The Company’s top management identifies, evaluates and hedges the Company against 
eventual financial risks. 
 

(a) Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits in banks and financial institutions, and other 
receivables. 

In the case of banks and financial institutions, only notes from top-tier institutions are accepted. 

 
(b) Liquidity risk 

Cash flow forecasts are calculated by the Company’s management. 

The management monitors the continual projections of the Company’s liquidity requirements to guarantee 
that the Company has sufficient cash to meet its operating needs.  

Excess cash held by the Company, in addition to the balance required to working capital management, is 
invested in financial investments with top-tier financial institutions, and managed by the Integrated System 
of Financial Management of States and Municipalities (SIAFEM). 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

Classification and measurement 
 
The Company classified its financial assets into the following categories: measured at fair value through 
income (loss), financial assets available for sale, and receivables. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management classifies its financial assets upon 
initial recognition. 

 

Financial assets measured at fair value through income (loss) 
 
Financial assets measured at fair value through income (loss) are financial assets held for active and 
frequent trading. Gains or losses on changes in fair value of financial instruments stated at fair value in 
income (loss) are presented in the statement of operations as “Financial income” in the period they are 
reported, unless the instrument has been entered into in connection with another transaction. In this case, 
fluctuations are recognized in the same statement of operations caption affected by the transaction. 
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Financial assets available for sale 
 
These are non-derivative financial assets which are designated as available for sale or which were not 
classified in other categories. Financial assets available for sale are initially stated at fair value plus any 
transaction costs directly attributable. After initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and 
changes not related to impairment losses are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) and 
presented in shareholders’ equity. When an investment is written-off, accumulated income (loss) in other 
comprehensive income is transferred to income. 

 
The Company’s investments in equity securities are classified as financial assets available for sale. 

 

Receivables 

These include receivables that are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or calculable payments not 
quoted on an active market. They are recorded as current assets, except those with maturities higher than 
12 months after the balance sheet date (which are classified as non-current assets). The receivables of the 
Company consist of trade accounts receivable and other accounts receivable.  After their initial 
recognition, receivables are measured at amortized cost through the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Company recognizes all other financial liabilities initially on the negotiation date, which is the date in 
which the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Company 
derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligation is withdrawn, cancelled or terminated. 

The Company classifies non-derivative financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. Such financial 
liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any attributed transaction costs. After the initial 
recognition, those financial liabilities are measured at the amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 

Other non-derivative financial liabilities comprise trade accounts payable, taxes and other obligations. 

 

Financial instrument classification 

The classification of financial instruments is presented below and no financial instruments are classified 
under categories other than those informed: 
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 Valor justo por 

meio do resultado
 Disponíveis para 

venda
 

Recebíveis
 Passivos financeiros 

não derivativos
 Total em 31 de 

dezembro de 2013
Ativos           
Caixa e equivalentes de caixa 458.728                    - - - 458.728                     
Contas a receber  -                               -    275.675          -    275.675                     
Bancos Contas Vinculadas 223.842                    -                         -               -                                  223.842                     
Adiantamentos e outros -                            -                         17.015         -                                  17.015                       
Investimentos  -                               318.829                     -    -    318.829                     
Total  682.570                       318.829                     292.690          -                                     1.294.089                  

                   
Passivos      
Fornecedores  -                            -                         -               466.617                             466.617                     
Tributos e contribuições Sociais -                            -                         -               331.248                          331.248                     
Convenios, contratos e outros  -                            -                         -               766.711                             766.711                     
Total  -                               -                            -                  1.564.576                          1.564.576                  

 

Fair value 
 
Derivatives 
 
The Company does not hold derivatives for the purpose of reducing or eliminating risks inherent to its 
operations.  
 
Non-derivatives 

According to management, the fair value of all transactions approximates their book value, given that the 
book value reflects the settlement amount on that date, due to the short-term maturity of those transactions. 
Accordingly, the book values recorded in balance sheet do not differ from the respective fair values as of 
December 31, 2013. 
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5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

2012 2011
(adjusted) (adjusted)

Cash 1,848                     3,118                     2,383                     
Bank accounts 147,628                 166,257                 263,281                 

Financial investments
SIAFEM 286,781                  594,560                  635,121                  
BB Fund - Short term 22,471                    6,766                      13,358                    
CDB - CEF -                            224                        

Total financial investments 309,252                 601,326                 648,703                 

Cash and cash equivalents 458,728                 770,701                 914,367                 

2013

 

 

In accordance with State Decree No. 55.357 of 01/18/2010, the financial investments of Cia. do Metro are 
made with the broker of SIAFEM of the State Finance Department, bearing monthly interest of 
approximately 0.69%. 

As enforced by Contracts/Partnerships the Company makes investments in savings accounts (legal entity) 
and FIXED INCOME FUND at Caixa Econômica Federal (LINE 17 Gold and LINE 4 Yellow), which bear 
monthly interest of approximately 0.54%, for both investments, and also in the FIXED INCOME FUND of 
Banco do Brasil, bearing monthly interest of approximately 0.48%. 
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6. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 

a) Breakdown per maturity of overdue and falling due amounts: 

 

 2013 

2012 

(Adjusted) 

01/01/2012 

(Adjusted) 

Falling due: 263,633 26,833 36,986 

Overdue up to 30 days 738 2,634 16,118 

Overdue from 31 to 90 days 1,054 2,814 764 

Overdue for more than 90 days 210,155 215,066 195,130 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (199,305) (214,165) (238,917) 

Accounts receivable, net 275,675 33,182 10,081 

 

The Company recognizes an allowance for doubtful accounts after an individual analysis of the 
clients. Additionally, the Company has the policy of recognizing an allowance for losses, for 100% 
of the accounts overdue for over 30 days. 

 

Partnerships and agreements 

On 11/29/2006, the Company undersigned, as intervener, a contract of sponsored assignment for the 
exploration of passenger transport services of Line 4 – Yellow of São Paulo Subway, from Luz station until 
Taboão da Serra, entered into by the Government of the state of São Paulo, Granting Authority, and the 
Concessionaire Line 4 of Metrô de São Paulo S.A. 

Clause nine to the contract sets forth that payments due to the Concessionaire as Revenue from tickets shall 
be realized through the Clearing House of the Centralized Collection System of public fees. It has defined as 
substitute, during the implementation of the independent Centralized Collection System, the Clearing House 
of the Single Ticket Electronic System, managed by São Paulo Transporte S.A. – SPTrans, linked to the 
Municipal Transport Department of the Municipal Government of São Paulo. The same clause established 
that the portion of the amounts collected shared between Metrô and CPTM is calculated after the deduction 
of the Concessionaire’s portion. 
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The effects on the collection of Metrô and CPTM are originated in the difference between the remuneration 
rule on the services rendered by those entities and the Concessionaire of Line 4 – Yellow. While the public 
companies receive the tariff paid by the users, the private Concessionaire receives the remuneration tariff per 
transported passenger, as defined in clause eight of the contract. The mismatch between the adjustments on 
public tariffs and the remuneration tariff, the payment of the remuneration tariff also of passengers traveling 
for free (gratuities) and the free integration between the lines of Metrô and CPTM with Line 4 - Yellow, in 
addition to the priority in receiving the revenues from tickets by the Private Concessionaire, generates 
financial impacts to the public companies of the subway/rail system. 

In 2014 work will be develop to equalize the mismatch mentioned above. 

 

b) - Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts: 

 

 

2013 

2012 

(Adjusted) 

01/01/2012 

(Adjusted) 

Beginning balance 214,165 238,917 211,002 

Additions - - 27,915 

Write-offs (14,860) (24,752) - 

Ending balance 199,305 214,165 238,917 
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7. RESTRICTED BANK ACCOUNTS 

 2013 2012 

(Adjusted) 

01/01/2012 

(Adjusted) 

Deposits 293,011 361,480 455,000 

Basic return 160 1,803 4,693 

Interest credit 14,235 22,148 24,462 

IRRF (Withholding income tax) (3,239) (5,389) (6,560) 

Redemption (80,325) (87,031) (116,115) 

    

Total 223,842 293,011 361,480 

 

These are funds received from the Municipal Government of São Paulo (PMSP) and kept in a restricted 
account. Such funds are only used upon the effective performance of work through the issue of shares of 
Metrô on behalf of PMSP in an amount equivalent to the amount of funds used as part of the agreement No. 
0262880201, dated 10/15/2008. 

 

8. INVESTMENTS 

 

2013 2012 

(Adjusted) 

01/01/2012 

(Adjusted) 

Cia. Energética de São Paulo - CESP 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Duke Energy International (Geração Paranapanema 
 

6,542 6,542 6,313 
AES Tietê S/A 7,740 7,740 7,740 
Cia. De Transmissão de Energia Elétrica Paulista – CTEEP 25,349 25,349 25,349 
Eletropaulo Metropolitana Eletricidade de São Paulo 
S/A 

13,963 13,963 15,349 
Energias do Brasil – EDP 7,674 7,674 7,674 
Cia. Piratininga de Força e Luz 7,674 7,674 7,674 
Empresa Metropolitana de Águas e Energia S/A - 

A  

 

 

15,349 15,349 15,349 
 94,291 94,291 95,448 
Adjustment of shares to market value 219,514 276.153 353,757 
Total share investments 313,805 370.444 449,205 
Works of art at the stations 5,024 5.024 5,024 

Investments 318,829 375.468 454,229 
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a) Calculation schedule of the investments 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acquisition  
cost 

Fair value  
Dec/2013 

R$ R$  
CESP 10,000 CESP3 1,323,626 26,340 
DUKE 7,697 GEPA4 1,323,627 82,052 
AES 7,740 GETI3 5,294,506 94,242 
CTEEP 25,349 TRPL4 2,252,873 60,647 
SUBTOTAL 50,786 10,194,632 263,281 

ELETRO 15,349 ELPL3 1,403,328 15,437 
EDP 7,674 ENBR3 331,624 11,292 
CPFL 7,674 CPFE3 570,400 21,778 
EMAE 15,349 EMAE4 350,832 2,017 
SUBTOTAL 46,046 2,656,184 50,524 
GRAND TOTAL 96,832 12,850,816 313,805 

COMPANY Ticker  
BOVESPA 

Number of  
shares 
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

a) Changes in balances 

 

 

 

Acquisition of trains from the state of São Paulo 

Pursuant to the Partnership Agreement entered into on 06/23/2008 by the state of São Paulo, through its 
Metropolitan Transport Department (STM), and Cia. do Metropolitano de São Paulo – Metrô, seventeen 
trains acquired by the state in the amount of R$ 372,285 are recorded only in offset accounts for the purpose 
of control and registry at the Company. 

On 12/06/2010, the 1st Amendment to this partnership was agreed which, in its item “m”, clause one, 
determined to the Company the reception, custody, management and operations of those trains, besides 
responsibility on their preventive, predictive and corrective maintenance. 

 

Annual In thousands of Brazilian Reais 
Years  depreciation Balance at Balance at 
useful life rate % 12/31/2012 Additions Depreciation Write-offs Transfers 12/31/2013 

ADMINISTRATIVE 
Plots of land and buildings          50 2.00 184,555 -                       -                       -                       -                        184,555 
Equipment and Facilities 10 10.00 136,415 19,872 -                       (2,052) -                        154,235 
Others 10 10.00 1,531 -                       -                       -                       -                        1,531 
Accumulated depreciation -        - (128,350) -                       (24,925) 1,748 -                        (151,527) 

TOTAL 194,151 19,872 (24,925) (304) 188,794 

OPERATING 
Operating buildings 50 2.00 493,362 -                       -                       -                       4,373 497,735 
Expropriated land -        - 1,816,668 211,871 -                       -                       3,243 2,031,782 
Stations 60 1.67 3,250,958 -                       -                       -                       (5,780) 3,245,178 
Tunnels, elevated roads and other constructions 125 0.80 3,922,868 -                       -                       -                       (17,356) 3,905,512 
Bus terminals and other improvements 125 0.80 455,751 -                       -                       -                       579 456,330 
Construction work for urban development 60 1.67 13,015 -                       -                       -                       -                        13,015 
Rolling stock system 30 3.34 2,105,203 6,165 -                       (159,272) 164,226 2,116,322 
Other systems 50 2.00 3,268,090 -                       -                       -                       (5,317) 3,262,773 
Intermunicipal and Interstate terminals 30 3.34 110,965 -                       -                       -                       581 111,546 
Fixed assets inventory -        - 173,153 7,022 -                       -                       -                        180,175 
Accumulated depreciation -        - (3,061,471) -                       (227,030) 149,526 -                        (3,138,975) 

TOTAL 12,548,562 225,058 (227,030) (9,746) 144,549 12,681,393 
12.501.218 

CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS -180.175 
Buildings 198,368 5,069 -                       -                       49,412 252,849 
Stations 607,106 34,451 -                       -                       239,166 880,723 
Tunnels, elevated roads and other constructions 

 

976,868 166,420 -                       -                       275,731 1,419,019 
Construction work appropriated 1,000,043 1,722,012 -                       -                       (425,775) 2,296,280 
Bus terminals and other improvements 

 

6,247 153 -                       -                       7,482 13,882 
Systems 1,125,904 813,440 -                       -                       62,078 2,001,422 
Systems appropriated 1,345,397 436,857 -                       -                       (352,062) 1,430,192 
Imports in progress 6,033 13,437 -                       -                       -                        19,470 
Materials appropriated 856 14 -                       -                       (2) 868 
Intermunicipal and Interstate terminals 1,234 -                       -                       -                       (579) 655 

TOTAL 5,268,056 3,191,853 -                       (144,549) 8,315,360 

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 18,010,769 3,436,783 (251,955) (10,050) 0 21,185,547 
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Analysis of useful life 

As of December 31, 2013, based on the evaluation of its internal experts, Management considered not 
necessary to change the useful life used in prior years of its property, plant and equipment, as shown in the 
table above (years useful life). 

10. DEFERRED CHARGES 

 Annual 
amortization 

rate 

2013 2012 
(Adjusted) 

01/01/2012 
(Adjusted) 

Pre-operating expenses     
Implemented lines  409,195 409,195 406,448 
Amortization 10% (359,736) (348,147) (336,151) 
  49,459 61,048 70,297 
Implemented associated ventures  7,755 7,754 6,821 
Amortization 10% (6,250) (6,066) (5,910) 
  1,505 1,688 911 
Lines with implementation in progress  1,497 1,497 4,245 
Associated ventures with 
implementation in progress 

 493 493 1,426 

  1,990 1,990 5,671 

TOTAL  52,954 64,726 76,879 

 

The amounts recorded as deferred charges consist of expenses on the preparation of projects, analyses, and 
researches for future ventures. After the change in accounting practices, there were no more additions to this 
group, only amortization of the remaining balance. 

 

11. TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

 2013 2012 
(Adjusted) 

01/01/2012 
(Adjusted) 

Domestic    
Construction companies 81,558 94,711 136,556 
Systems 292,520 279,518 292,713 
Services 58,720 42,072 41,708 
Materials, Assets, Tickets, Electricity 32,936 44,817 41,355 
 465,734 461,118 512,332 
    
Foreign    
Construction companies 883 883 - 
 883 883 - 
    
Total domestic and foreign trade 
accounts payable 

466,617 462,001 512,332 

 

 

55 



 

 

12. TAXES AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

  2013 2012 
(Adjusted) 

01/01/2012 
(Adjusted) 

CURRENT       
INSS (Social Security Tax) payable 102,180 73,224 47,508 
FGTS (Severance pay Fund) payable 8,448 6,281 7,087 
IRPJ (Corporate Income Tax) and 
CSLL (Social Contribution Tax) 
payable - - 4,712 
PIS/PASEP and COFINS (taxes on 
sales) payable 1,959 6,150 6,583 
IPTU (Property Tax) payable 631 1,395 644 
Withheld taxes to pay 33,920 37,960 19,329 
Others 1,879 1,681 1,595 

 
149,017 126,691 87,458 

NONCURRENT       
PASEP in litigation 2,532 2,414 2,254 
ISS (Service Tax) on revenues 179,699 145,399 113,545 

 
182,231 147,813 115,799 

        
TOTAL 331,248 274,504 203,257 

 

 

13. BENEFIT PLAN 

 

 2013 

2012 

(Adjusted) 

01/01/2012 

(Adjusted) 

 Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II 

Current 15,127 2,866 14,330 2.477 15.131 2.143 

Noncurrent 46,667 11,837 56,540 30.103 63.529 7.680 

 61,794 14,703 70,870 32.580 78.660 9.823 

Total 76,497 103,450 88,483 
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General description of the characteristics of the plan 

 
Plan I 
 
The Benefit Plan I is a defined benefit plan established on 04/01/1993, which does not accept new 
participants since 08/01/1999, when Benefit Plan II was created. 
 
The benefits offered are: 
 
Normal Retirement; 
Early Retirement; 
Proportional Benefit; 
Deferred Termination Benefit; 
Permanent Disability Pension; 
Sickness Allowance; 
Survivorship Benefit; 
Annual Bonus; 
Minimum Benefit. 
 
 
Plan II 
 
The Benefit Plan II of the Supplementary Pension, or simply “Plan II” exists since 1999 and was 
created to meet the demands of participants for a more flexible model of plan, compatible with 
their expectations of better additional coverage. The sponsors of the plan are Metrô and Metrus, 
which offer the plan to their employees. 
 
Plan II is a Variable Contribution plan. This means that its benefits have characteristics of Defined 
Contribution and Defined Benefit. 
 
Plan II guarantees the following benefits: 
 
a. To participants: 
Normal Retirement; 
Early Retirement; 
Permanent disability pension; 
Sickness Allowance; 
Deferred Termination Benefit; 
Proportional Benefit; 
Annual Bonus. 
 
b. To beneficiaries: 
Survivorship Benefit; 
Annual bonus. 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the cost of current and past services were 
measured using the projected unit credit method. 
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A - Summary of the participants' registry data 
 

PLAN I PLAN II PLAN I PLAN II PLAN I PLAN II

Participants
Number 2,863 6,566 3,031 6,242 3,467 5,392
Average age (years) 54 41 53 40 52 40
Average salary (R$) 6,933 6,084 6,294 5,388 6,007 4,934

Self-sponsored participants
Number 8 155 9 136 10 105
Average age (years) 55 40 55 39 54 39
Average salary (R$) 2,930 5,009 2,921 4,428 3,500 4,750

BPD (waiting the benefit)
Number 84 59 97 56 136 52
Average age (years) 51 42 52 42 53 42
Average benefit (R$) 716 234 771 224 1,059 187

Assisted (retirees) 
Number 1,897 113 1,830 91 1,752 64
Average age (years) 65 58 65 57 64 57
Average benefit (R$) 1,474 1,330 1,373 978 1,298 883

Assisted (pensioners) *
Number 437 66 412 63 385 56
Average age (years) 56 40 56 38 54 39
Average benefit (R$) 779 706 718 636 650 562
*total beneficiaries

Total benefits in the month (R$) 3,136,011 196,949 2,808,140 129,026 2,524,968 87,995
Total continued benefits in the year (R$) (13X) 40,768,147 2,560,340 36,505,817 1,677,337 32,824,585 1,143,940

12/31/2013 12/31/2012 1/1/2012

 

 

 

B – Actuarial parameters and hypotheses adopted 

i) General comments on the assumptions 

The assumptions were defined in an impartial and mutually compatible manner, based on market 
projections during the period of development of each actuarial evaluation and of the respective 
projections. 
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Nature of the benefits

Responsibility for the plan f inancing

ii) Financial
Annual interest rate of actuarial discount 12.63% p.a. 12.65% p.a. 10.13% p.a. 10.39% p.a. 11.94% p.a. 12.05% p.a.
Projected annual increase in salaries 7.32% p.a. 7.68% p.a. 7.90% p.a. 8.88% p.a. 7.67% p.a. 8.50% p.a.
Projected annual increase in benefits 5.56% p.a. 5.56% p.a. 6.20% p.a. 6.20% p.a. 6.08% p.a. 6.08% p.a.
Average annual inf lation rate 5.56% p.a. 5.56% p.a. 6.20% p.a. 6.20% p.a. 6.08% p.a. 6.08% p.a.
Expected return on the assets of the Plan 12.63% p.a. 12.65% p.a. 10.13% p.a. 10.39% p.a. 11.94% p.a. 12.05% p.a.
Note: Discount rate defined considering NTN-B bonds, w ith 
duration similar to the duration of the Plan

iii) Demographic

Turnover rate

Table of mortality/survivorship of assets

Table of mortality/survivorship of retirees
Table of mortality/survivorship of disable people
Disability table
1 Segregated by gender

Retirement age

Family composition for pension costs*

Participants

Retirees
Pensioners

iv) Main hypotheses and parameters
Discount interest rate 12.63% p.a. 12.65% p.a. 10.13% p.a. 10.39% p.a. 11.94% p.a. 12.05% p.a.
Salary increase 7.32% p.a. 7.68% p.a. 7.90% p.a. 8.88% p.a. 7.67% p.a. 8.50% p.a.

Table of mortality/survivorship of assets and retirees BRASIL IBGE 2010 Des.25%

Informed composition Informed composition Informed composition Informed composition Informed composition Informed composition

AT-83 M&F (IAM) AT-2000 M&F (D10)
BRASIL IBGE 2010         Des. 
25% BRASIL IBGE 2010 Des.25%

BRASIL IBGE 2010           
Des. 25%

Informed composition

95% Married - Man 4 
years older

95% Married - Man 4 
years older

95% Married - Man 4 years 
older

95% Married - Man 4 years 
older

95% Married - Man 4 years 
older

95% Married - Man 4 years 
older

Informed composition Informed composition Informed composition Informed composition Informed composition

100% at f irst age eligible 
to normal retirement

100% at f irst age eligible 
to normal retirement

100% at f irst age eligible to 
normal retirement

100% at f irst age eligible to 
normal retirement

100% at f irst age eligible to 
normal retirement

100% at f irst age eligible to 
normal retirement

ÁLVARO VINDAS
BRASIL IBGE 2010
AT-2000 M&F (D10)AT-83 M&F (IAM)

BRASIL IBGE 2010
ÁLVARO VINDAS ÁLVARO VINDAS

BRASIL IBGE 2010 Des.25%
BRASIL IBGE 2010 Des.25%BRASIL IBGE 2010 - Des. 

BRASIL IBGE 2010
ÁLVARO VINDAS

BRASIL IBGE 2010
BRASIL IBGE 2010 Des.25%
ÁLVARO VINDAS

BRASIL IBGE 2010 - Des. 
BRASIL IBGE 2010
ÁLVARO VINDAS

AT-83 M&F (IAM) AT-2000 M&F (D10) BRASIL IBGE 2010 - Des. 
25%

BRASIL IBGE 2010 Des.25% BRASIL IBGE 2010 - Des. 
25%

BRASIL IBGE 2010 Des.25%

Experiência Gama PI 2003-
2012

Experiência Gama PI 
2003&2012 (2/X-0,04) (2/X-0,04) (2/X-0,04) (2/X-0,04)

Pension
Sponsor, Participants and 

Beneficiaries
Sponsor, Participants and 

Beneficiaries
Sponsor, Participants and 

Beneficiaries
Sponsor, Participants and 

Beneficiaries
Sponsor, Participants and 

Beneficiaries
Sponsor, Participants and 

Beneficiaries

Pension Pension Pension Pension Pension

12/31/2013 12/31/2012 (adjusted) 01/01/2012 (adjusted)

Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II
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 C - Amounts recognized in the statement of operations and in other comprehensive income (loss) 
 

Service cost Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II
C.1 Cost of net current service recognized in income (loss) 7,132               (6,264)             5,811               (2,738)             5,042               (2,444)             
C.2 Cost of net interest (16,870)           (6,163)             (7,130)             (1,787)             (5,024)             (4,132)             
C.3 Gains/(losses) from reductions                                -                                  -                                  -                                  -                             -                             -   
C.4 Provision for benefit plans and other post-employment benefits (9,738)             (12,427)           (1,319)             (4,525)             18                    (6,576)             

Remeasurement of the defined benefit plan 

C.5 Gains/(losses) accumulated at beginning of period                                -                                  -                             -                             -   
C.6 Gains/(losses) on fair assets (96,632)           (32,176)           13,362             (3,939)                                       -                             -   
C.7 Gains/(losses) on actuarial obligation 216,051           64,202             (132,853)         (49,553)                                     -                             -   
C.8 Change in restriction of actuarial obligation (65,151)           107,451                                     -                             -   
C.9 Interest on the effects of the restriction of actuarial obligation -                  (17,877)                                          -   22,758                                       -                             -   
C.10 Restriction of contracted deficit (56,074)           -                                                 -                             -                             -   
C.11 Total components recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) (1,806)             14,149             (12,040)           (30,734)           -                  -                  

Total components of the defined benefit plan cost (11,544)           1,722               (13,359)           (35,259)           18                    (6,576)             

12/31/2013 12/31/2012 (adjusted) 01/01/2012 (adjusted)

 

The net cost of service and expenses on interest for the period are included in the expenses on the Provision for benefit plans and other post-employment 
benefits, under income (loss) of the period consolidated. The recalculation of the defined benefit net liabilities is included in the statement of 
comprehensive income (loss) as part of other comprehensive income (loss). 
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D – Status of the fund and recognized (liabilities)/assets 

PLAN I PLAN II PLAN I PLAN II PLAN I PLAN II

D.1 Present value of the actuarial obligation (916,639)                    (86,948)                      (1,055,738)                 (133,191)                      (844,789)                   (73,398)                      
D.2 (-) Effect of the restriction on the actuarial obligation 5,719                           14,704                        70,871                        32,581                        21,040                        9,823                          
D.3 Present value of the actuarial obligation, net (910,920)          (72,244)           (984,867)         (100,610)           (823,749)         (63,575)           
D.4 Fair value of the assets of the plan at end of period 905,200                     57,540                       913,996                      68,029                       802,709                     53,752                       
D.5 Status of the benefit plan: (Deficit) / Surplus (5,720)             (14,704)            (70,871)            (32,581)            (21,040)            (9,823)             
D.6 Effect of the asset ceiling                                -                                  -                                  -                                  -                             -                             -   
D.7 Restriction of the contracted deficit (56,074)                                                     -                                  -                                  -   (57,620)                                                -   
D.8 Net assets/(liabilities) responsibility resulting from the plan obligation (61,794)            (14,704)            (70,871)            (32,581)            (78,660)           (9,823)             

Changes in net assets/(liabilities) recognized in balance sheet

D.9 (Liabilities)/Assets recognized at beginning of period (70,871)                       (32,581)                       (78,660)                      (9,823)                                                  -                             -   
D.10 Contributions from sponsor, net of administrative load 20,622                       16,155                         21,148                         12,501                         18,214                         10,931                         
D.11 Provision for benefit plans and other post-employment benefits (9,738)                        (12,427)                       (1,319)                          (4,525)                        19                                 (6,576)                        
D.12 Amount recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (loss) (1,806)                         14,149                         (12,040)                       (30,734)                      
D.13 Accumulated income/loss                                -                                  -                                  -                                  -   (96,893)                      (14,178)                        
D.14 (Liabilities)/Assets recognized at end of period (61,793)            (14,704)            (70,871)            (32,581)            (78,660)           (9,823)             

Calculation of the effect of asset ceiling
Present value of economic benefits (Ceiling)*                                        -                                                                                    -                                                                              -                                       
Effect of the restriction on the asset [|Surplus| - Ceiling]                                        -                                                                                    -                                                                              -                                       

Calculation of the effect of risks shared by the participants and beneficiaries of the plan
Present value of the extraordinary contributions for amortization of the deficit* (5,719)                         (14,704)                       (70,871)                       (32,581)                       (21,040)                       (9,823)                        
Effect of the restriction on the actuarial obligation (participants and beneficiaries) (5,719)              (14,704)            (70,871)            (32,581)            (21,040)            (9,823)             

12/31/2013 12/31/2012 (adjusted) 01/01/2012 (adjusted)

Status of the benefit plan

* Calculation of the effect of risks shared by the participants and beneficiaries of the plan; in order to limit the actuarial responsibility to be recognized by the sponsor, it considers the present value of
the flow of economic benefits considering the discount interest rate pursuant to item 83 of CPC33 R1."

* Calculation of the available economic benefit addressed in item 65 of CPC 33 R1 (CVM Decision 695/2012), in order to limit the actuarial asset to be recognized, it considers the present value of the flow of economic 
benefits considering the discount interest rate pursuant to item 83 of the mentioned CPC."
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E – Reconciliation of the balances at present value of the actuarial obligation 

Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II
E.1 Present value of the actuarial obligation at beginning of year (1,055,738)                  (133,192)    (844,788)                     (73,398)      
E.2 Cost of net current service (13,034)                       (6,264)        (12,278)                       (2,739)        
E.3 Cost of interest (109,187)                     (13,951)      (103,082)                     (8,932)        
E.4 Remeasurement of actuarial gains/(losses) 216,051                       64,202        (132,853)                     (49,553)      
E.5 Differences arising from exchange rate gains (losses)                              -   -                                          -   
E.6 Cost of past service                              -   -                                          -   
E.7 Benefits paid by the plan 45,268                         2,257          37,263                         1,430         
E.8 Present value of the actuarial obligation at end of year                       (916,640)        (86,948)                    (1,055,738)     (133,192)       (844,788)   (73,398)

12/31/2013 12/31/2012 (adjusted) 01/01/2012 (adjusted)

 

 

F – Reconciliation of the balances of fair value of assets 

Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II
F.1 Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 913,995                      68,029                        802,709                      53,751                        
F.2 Interest income 92,317                        7,788                          95,952                        7,145                          
F.3 Gains/(Losses) on plan assets (excluding interest income) (96,631)                       (32,175)                       13,361                        (3,939)                         
F.4 Other gains/(losses)                              -   -                                                           -   -                              
F.5 Business combination                              -   -                                                           -   -                              
F.6 Settlements                              -   -                                                           -   -                              
F.7 Differences arising from exchange rate gains (losses)                              -   -                                                           -   -                              
F.8 Contributions from the employer 20,622                        16,155                        21,148                        12,502                        
F.9 Regular contributions of the employees to the plan 20,166                        -                              18,088                        -                              
F.10 Benefits paid by the plan (45,268)                       (2,257)                         (37,263)                       (1,430)                         
F.11 Assets (acquired) / transferred from other plans                              -                                -                                -                                -   
F.12 Fair value of plan assets at end of year 905,201                      57,540                        913,995                      68,029                        802,709      53,751     

01/01/2012 (adjusted)12/31/2013 12/31/2012 (adjusted)
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G – Types of assets of the plan 

Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II
    Available 0.20% 0.42% 0.13% 0.37% 0.15% 0.32%
    Realizable (pension and administrative) 2.21% 2.52% 2.10% 2.38% 1.81% 2.30%
    Government bonds 37.59% 43.04% 36.71%
    Private credits and deposits 25.79% 24.12% 28.13%
    Shares 9.69% 5.73% 6.60%
    Investment fund - Real estate 14.24% 14.82% 14.95%
    Fixed income 55.02% 51.07% 50.47%
    Floating rate 12.58% 21.91% 22.82%
    Structured 13.27% 10.21% 8.67%
    Real estate investments 6.35% 4.74% 6.31% 4.26% 7.39% 6.02%

 Loans and f inancing 3.86% 11.43% 3.72% 9.78% 4.21% 9.35%
Others 0.07% 0.02% 0.03% 0.02% 0.05% 0.05%

Total percentage of plan assets 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

12/31/2013 12/31/2012 (adjusted) 01/01/2012 (adjusted)
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H – Calculation of fair value of the assets of the plan 

Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II Plan I Plan II
    Available 1,832           2,172           1,237           1,800           1,251           1,129           
    Realizable (pension and administrative) 207,445       12,894         20,114         11,664         15,087         8,231           
    Government bonds 352,147       -               412,997       -               306,652       -               
    Private credits and deposits 241,640       -               231,399       -               234,989       -               
    Shares 90,802         -               55,124         -               55,147         -               
    Investment funds 133,396       -               142,165       -               124,850       -               
    Fixed income 281,589       249,841       -               180,693       
    Floating rate 64,391         107,177       -               81,674         
    Structured 67,892         49,977         -               31,037         
    Real estate investments 59,448         24,243         60,539         20,837         61,735         21,530         

 Loans and f inancing 36,171         58,522         35,653         47,857         35,176         33,453         
 Others 668              111              334              111              416              193              

(-) Funds to receive - sponsor (Contracts of Technical Deficit of the Plan)                            -                                    -   
(-) Operating liabilities (25,505)        (12,524)        (25,363)        (14,994)        (17,380)        (9,079)          
(-) Contingent liabilities (358)             (54)               (358)             (54)               (420)             (97)               
(-) Pension fund                            -                                    -   
(-) Investment fund (2,904)          (2,429)          (2,741)          (1,894)          (2,389)          (1,503)          
(-) Administrative fund (17,248)        (9,163)          (17,104)        (8,549)          (12,405)        (5,931)          
INPC (National Consumer Price Index) adjustment factor plus interest from 
October to December 2013 1.0161         1.0000         1.0000         

Fair value of plan assets 905,200       487,644       913,996       463,773       802,709       341,330       

01/01/2012 (adjusted)12/31/2012 (adjusted)12/31/2013
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I – Investment policy 

Plan I  

All investments of Metrus are realized in accordance with the definitions of its Investment Policy, which complies with the legal requirements 
that define the parameters, indexes and limits of investment of funds. Such Policy, effective for five years, is approved and annually reviewed 
by the Board of Trustees. On 12/20/2011, the Board of Trustees approved the review of the Policy for the period from January 2012 to 
December 2016, which includes the general guidelines that rule the investments of Plan I - CNPB 1993000119, Health Insurance Plans, and 
PGA – Administrative Management Plan. This review included the conduction of a study of Asset Liability Management (ALM), which defined 
the macro allocation of the Pension Plans. 

Plan II 

 
All investments of Metrus are realized in accordance with the definitions of its Investment Policy, which complies with the legal requirements 
that define the parameters, indexes and limits of investment of funds. Such Policy, effective for five years, is approved and annually reviewed by 
the Board of Trustees. On 12/20/2011, the Board of Trustees approved the review of the Policy for the period from January 2012 to December 
2016, which includes the general guidelines that rule the investments of Plan II - CNPB 1998007618, Health Insurance Plans, and PGA – 
Administrative Management Plan. This review included the conduction of a study of Asset Liability Management (ALM), which defined the 
macro allocation of the Pension Plans. It also defines the Structure of Decision Making, Procedures for Previous Analysis of Investments, 
Restrictions, Transactions with Derivatives, Return Target, Policy of Risk Management, Pricing of Assets, and Rules for Compliance with Social 
and Environmental Principles. 
 
 
J – Basis to determine the actuarial discount rate 
 

The discount rates were defined considering the duration of Liabilities, yearly calculated. 
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K – Sensitivity analyses of main hypotheses 

 

+ 1 age - 1 age + 1 age - 1 age + 0,25% -0.25% + 0,25% -0.25% + 0,25% -0.25% + 0,25% -0.25%
Plan I Plan I Plan II Plan II Plan I Plan I Plan II Plan II Plan I Plan I Plan II Plan II Plan I Plan II

Amounts of
Present value of the plan actuarial obligation 902,155  930,627 86,578    87,305   922,491 911,384 89,445   84,451   893,660 940,659 83,489   90,537   916,639 86,948   
Fair value of plan assets 905,200  905,200 57,539    57,540   905,200 905,200 57,540   57,540   905,200 905,200 57,540   57,540   905,200 57,540   
Technical surplus / (deficit) of the plan 3,045      (25,427)  (29,039)  (29,765)  (17,291)  (6,184)    (31,905) (26,911) 11,540   (35,459)  (25,949) (32,997) (11,439)  (29,408) 

Variations:
Increase/decrease in actuarial obligation -1.60% 1.50% -0.40% 0.40% 0.60% -0.60% 2.90% -2.90% -2.50% 2.60% -4.00% 4.10%
Increase/decrease in plan assets 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Increase/decrease in technical surplus/(deficit) of the plan -126.60% 122.30% -1.30% 1.20% 51.20% -45.90% 8.50% -8.50% -200.90% 210.00% -11.80% 12.20%

Biometric table Salary increase Interest rate Status at 
12/31/2013

 

The sensitivity analyses above are based on changes in one assumption, but keeping all other constants. In fact, this is most unlikely to occur, 
and changes in some assumptions can be correlated. When calculating sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation of significant actuarial 
assumptions, the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation, calculated through the method of projected credit unit at end of 
the period) was applied as in the calculation of the responsibilities with the Plan, recognized in this statement of financial position at year end. 
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L – (Expenses) revenues and payments expected to following years 

 

Plan I Plan II
Amounts of
 Cost of net current service 12,003                     (5,262)                      
 Cost of interest, net (2,642)                      
 Effect of any reduction or settlement

12,003                     (7,904)                      
Plan management                           -                             -   

Total (expenses) / revenue to recognize in the following year 12,003                     (7,904)                      

Amount of payments expected by the company in the following year*
  Regular 6,642                       14,187                     
  Extraordinary 15,127                     -                           
  Extraordinary - Risk portion -                           2,866                       
  Management 741                          
Total payments expected to the Plan 21,769                     17,794                     
* Only post-employment.

Provision for benefit plans and other post-employment benefits

For 12/31/2014
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14. PARTNERSHIPS, AGREEMENTS AND OTHERS 

 

 
The most relevant items in this group are: 

• Partnership entered into on December 28, 2007 between the Companhia Brasileira de Trens 
Urbanos – CBTU and Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo – Metrô, whose remaining 
balance in 2013 amounts to R$ 257,668 and is distributed as follows: R$ 3,886 in current 
liabilities and R$ 253,782 in noncurrent liabilities. This partnership has the STM as intervener, 
and aims the continuity of Line 2 - Green - Vila Madalena-Oratório - with the implementation of 
the segment Alto do Ipiranga-Vila Prudente of São Paulo Subway. The global value of the 
partnership is R$ 351,000. 

• Trips held by the user: These are the credits available in the cards of “Bilhete Único” held by the 
users, but not yet used in the system. The remaining balance as of December 31, 2013 totals R$ 
227,292. 

 

 

 

 

Liabilities 2013 2012 01.01.2012 
(Adjusted) (Adjusted) 

Current 
Trips held by users 227,292        111,965        130,466        
Profit sharing 45,207          42,805          40,806          
Insurance 6,340            7,254            1,929            
Partnership CBTU 3,886            3,866            3,886            
Others 77,091          63,654          90,703          

359,816       229,544       267,790       

Noncurrent 
Partnership CBTU 

 

253,782        270,353        274,227        
Companhia Santa Cruz 32,431          33,307          34,371          
Partnership Shopping Tatuapé 98,921          101,942        104,876        
INSS – Installment payment agreement SAT 17,516          21,767          -                   
Others 4,245            6,204            7,766            

406,895       433,573       421,240       

Total Partnerships, agreements, and others 766,711       663,117       689,030       
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15. PROVISION FOR CONTINGENCIES 

 

a) The Company presented the following liabilities at the balance sheet dates: 
 

 

 

b) Changes in the provision for 2013 are as follows: 

 

 
c) Main contingencies: 

 

The Company is a party to civil, labor and tax proceedings. These issues are discussed at the 
administrative and judicial level, and are supported by court deposits, when applicable. The 
respective provisions for contingencies were established taking into account the legal counsel’s 
estimate for cases whose chances of unfavorable outcome were considered probable. 
Management believes that the solution to these issues will not cause an effect significantly 
different from the accrued amount. 

 Labor and social security contingencies refer to suits filed by former employees related to 
amounts arising from work relationships and various damages claims.   

 

 

    

2012 Addition 
Monetary  
adjustment Write-off 2013 

Labor 92,193          5,873            2,523               (53,352) 47,237          
Civil 471,953        12,402          54,160              (1,960) 536,555        
Tax 45,279          2,915            1,672               (138) 49,728          

Total 609,425       21,190         58,355            (55,450) 633,520       

2013 2012 01.01.2012 
(Adjusted) (Adjusted) 

Labor 47,237          89,779          101,776        
Civil 536,555        471,953        419,681        
Tax 49,728          47,693          74,502          

Total Partnerships, agreements and others 633,520       609,425       595,959       
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Process “Turma da Rua” 

In accordance with a partnership entered into with Metrus in October 1998, Metrus was responsible 
for the management of the Program “Turma da Rua”, and Metrô responsible for all costs arising from 
such program, in compliance with the determinations of GESP. Accordingly, Metrô transferred the 
required funds to Metrus.   

The staff working in the Program was outsourced, through the engagement of EMTEL - Recursos 
Humanos e Serviços Terceirizados Ltda. 

The contract with EMTEL was terminated on March 06, 1995, when the management of the Program 
returned to Metrô, as an emergency solution, given that the services could not be interrupted and it was 
not legally possible to extend the contract term.   

There is currently a legal dispute between EMTEL and Metrus, whereby the parties discuss 
approximately R$ 230,690 resulting from termination amounts, plus court costs, monetary adjustment, 
late payment interest, and lawyers' fees, that the Institute does not recognize as its obligation.   

Additionally, several labor claims were filed against EMTEL, in which Metrus may also be considered 
jointly responsible for the resulting obligations. 

Accordingly, due to the partnership agreed between Metrô and Metrus, any expenses arising from 
those actions, if due by the Institute, shall be supported by Metrô and GESP.   The contingency 
provided for by Metrô and adjusted as of December 31, 2013 amounts to R$ 230,690 (R$ 209,538 in 
2012).  

 

 

Other contingencies 

Line 2 Green – Trains Cartel 

One of the contracts of the Company was mentioned in the investigations of a suspected cartel for 
metro and train works. The contract No. 04193800-1 has as its purpose the implementation of Line 2 
system. An administrative proceeding was started to decide on possible penalties to the private 
companies involved in the contract. The proceeding is in progress and no provision related to this 
matter was recognized, since the legal advisors of the Company do not consider it a probable loss. 
  

 

Line 5 - Lilac 

There is an ongoing lawsuit, whose object is the investigation of misconduct of office and damage to 
public treasury, in the work contracts of Line 5. The action is still in its initial stage, the answer phase 
was concluded, but there is still no decision from the judge on the production of evidences. An 
injunction was granted to remove from office the President of Metrô and suspend the work. The 
injunctions were revoked by the Court of Justice and the work is being carried out normally. No 
provision related to this matter was recognized, since the legal advisors of the Company do not 
consider it a probable loss. 
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(d) Possible losses not provided for in the financial statements 

As of December 31, 2013, in addition to the amounts previously mentioned, R$ 71,687 (2012 – R$ 
29,056) related to labor, civil and tax lawsuits, whose likelihood of unfavorable outcome is considered 
possible by the Company’s legal advisors, were not included in those amounts and, accordingly, not 
recorded in the Company’s financial statements. 

 

16.      SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

a) Subscribed and paid-in capital 

Subscribed and paid-in capital, as of December 31, 2013, is represented by R$ 25,320,685 
equivalent to (20,856,856,058) common shares of single class, registered, with no par value 
and with voting rights (one vote each). 

Authorized capital is R$ 39,845,226 according to the General and Extraordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting held on April 28, 2010. 

b) Advance for increase in capital 

The funds received are kept in a restricted account. Such funds are only used upon the 
effective performance of work through the issue of shares of Metrô on behalf of PMSP in an 
amount equivalent to the amount of funds used as part of the agreement No. 0262880201, 
dated 10/15/2008.   

In 2013, a portion of the advance from PMSP, amounting to R$ 80,326, was transferred to 
paid-in capital (in 2012, R$ 87,031 was transferred from PMSP). 

 

17. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The main related-party balances in the period are as follows: 

 

 
2013 2012 (adjusted) 2013 

2012 
(adjusted) 

Related-party 
transactions Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities (Expenses) (Expenses) 

Key management 
personnel - - - - 2,256 2,178 

Government of the 
state of São Paulo 222,447 - 7,419 - - - 

CBTU/STU/BH/ 
DEMETRO - 257,668 - 270,353 - - 
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The balances receivable from the Government of the state of São Paulo are recorded in accounts 
receivable; details on the nature of this balance are described on Note 6 – Accounts receivable. 

 

The balance payable to CBTU/STU/BH/DEMETRO consists of amounts from partnerships agreed; 
details are on Note 14 – Partnerships, agreements and others. 

The main related-party transactions were conducted under the following conditions: 

The compensation of managers and directors correspond to short-term benefits and amounts to R$ 
2,256 (R$ 2,178 in 2012). 

18. NET REVENUE 

 

  

2013 

2012 

(Adjusted) 

Gross revenue    

Services revenue  1,828,652 1,770,880 

Program “Ação Social” – GESP* 

 Gratuities  

 

274,895 274,519 

Deductions from gross revenue    

PASEP and COFINS  (39,126) (71,863) 

Other deductions   (64,531) (61,601) 

NET REVENUE  1,999,890 1,911,935 

 

* PROGRAM “AÇÃO SOCIAL” – GESP 

The amount of R$ 274,895 (R$ 274,519 in 2012) was received from GESP, which represents an 
increase of 0.14%. 

 

19. COST OF SERVICES RENDERED 

 2013 
2012 

(Adjusted) 

Labor (1,045,608) (937,844) 

Materials (57,361) (42,306) 

General expenses (378,522) (420,103) 

Depreciation (250,237) (246,238) 

TOTAL (1,731,728) (1,646,491) 
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20. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 2013 
2012 

(Adjusted) 

   Personnel  (252,878) (222,301) 

   Materials (2,122) (2,658) 

   General expenses (134,449) (202,710) 

TOTAL (389,449) (427,669) 
 

21. Other operating revenues (expenses) 

 2013 2012 

(Adjusted) 

 

COFINS/PASEP (2,245) (2,041)  

Contract fines (217) (1,084)  

Other revenues 3,026 62,641  

Gain / Loss on assets (10,013) (43)  

Revenue from investments - 3,049  

Total (9,449) 62,522  

 

22. FINANCIAL INCOME NET 

 2013 
2012 

(Adjusted) 

Financial expenses   

    Monetary variation losses (1,959) (233) 

    Interest losses (1,781) (2,295) 

 (3,740) (2,528) 

Financial revenues   

    Financial investments 54,074 71,267 

    Monetary variation gains 2,858 2,623 

    Interest gains 870 944 

    Discounts obtained 181 28 

 57,983 74,862 

TOTAL 54,243 72,334 
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23. INCOME AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION TAXES  

 
                                                           
        
                                                 
                                CSLL IRPJ CSLL IRPJ CSLL IRPJ

Corporate income (loss) (76,493) (76,493) (28,447)                        - (24,569)                           - 

Deduction of taxes                               -                           - 1,078                        - 25,995                           - 
Income (loss) before social 
contribution tax (76,493)                           - (27,369)                        - 1,426                           - 
Income (loss) before income 
tax  - (76,493)  - (28,447)  - (7,191)
Adjustment - restatement  -  - (6,341) (6,341)  -  -
Add-backs 188,375 155,774 159,345 126,929 183,414 158,200
Deductions (120,364) (120,364) (108,515) (108,515) (48,057) (48,057)
Income (loss) before offset (8,482) (41,083) 17,120 (16,374) 136,783 102,952

Tax loss carryforwards                               -                           - (5,136)                        - (41,035) (30,886)

Calculation basis                               -                           - 11,984                        - 95,748 72,066

Income tax (15%)                               -                           -                              -                        -                          - 10,810

Surtax (10%)                               -                           -                              -                        -                          - 7,182

Social contribution tax (9%)                               -                           - 1,078                        - 8,617                           - 

(-) tax incentives                               -                           -                              -                        -                          - (614)

Tax amounts                               -                           - 1,078                        - 8,617 17,378

2013 2012 2011

 

a) Deferred taxes 

Deferred income and social contribution taxes are calculated on the corresponding temporary 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities 
and their respective tax bases. 

The rates of these taxes, currently set for determining these deferred taxes, are 25% for 
income tax and 9% for social contribution tax. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that future taxable income is likely to be 
available to be utilized for offsetting temporary differences according to future income 
projections made and grounded in internal assumptions and future economic scenarios which 
may therefore change. 

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had deferred tax assets amounting to R$ 1,490,470 
not recognized on temporary non-deductible expenses and tax losses in the calculation of 
taxable income, given that the Company does not have expectation of future taxable income 
in the following years. 

Deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, 2013 amount to R$ 74,634 and consist of taxes 
calculated on the fair value of investments. 
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 24.     INSURANCE 

Metrô has insurance coverage contracted with the main Brazilian insurance companies by means 
of bidding process, and considering the nature and level of risk involved. As of December 31, 
2013, Metrô had insurance cover against fire, civil liability and sundry risks for its property, plant 
and equipment items, users and construction works in amounts deemed sufficient by management 
to cover possible losses. Given the nature of the risk assumptions adopted, they are not part of the 
scope of an audit of financial statements and, therefore, were not audited by the independent auditors. 

 

 

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

Modernization of Trains – Program for the Modernization of Trains 

The program was implemented by the Company by means of four contracts. There was recently a 
request for suspending the contracts and waiting the conclusion of the investigations from the 
Office of the Public Prosecutor. The claim was met through the partial suspension of the contracts 
for 90 days, based on a contractual clause that allows the suspension of contracts for up to 120 
days with no cost. After this period appropriate measures will be evaluated considering the 
investigations of the Office of the Public Prosecutor.  
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Engineering and Construction Director – DE: 
WALTER FERREIRA DE CASTRO FILHO 
 
Corporate Issues Director – DA: 
NELSON SHEIJI KAWAKAMI 
 

 

JOSÉ CARLOS BAPTISTA DO NASCIMENTO 
Finance Control Manager 
CRC 1SP 093.280/O-2 
 
CICERO IZIDORO ALVES 
Accountant 
CRC 1SP 170.689/O-1 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

The members of the Audit Committee of Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo – Metrô, in 

compliance with items II and IV, article 163 of Law No. 6.404/74, and having analyzed the 

Management Report, the Financial Statements required by Law and the respective Notes, all for the 

year ended December 31, 2013, according to the Report issued by BDO RCS Auditores Independentes 

SS, dated March 12, 2014, particularly considering the emphasis paragraph, and additional 

information obtained from management, declare that the Management Report and Financial 

Statements referred to above can be submitted to the appreciation of the Company’s shareholders in a 

General Shareholders Meeting called to that end. 

 

São Paulo, March 19, 2014. 

 

 

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

 

Members: 

 

ATILIO GERSON BERTOLDI 

SANDRA MARIA GIANNELLA 

MARIA DE FÁTIMA ALVES FERREIRA 

HENRIQUE MOTTA PINTO 

MARCOS DE BARROS CRUZ 
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(Convenience translation into English from the original previously issued in Portuguese) 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
To the Shareholders and Management of 
COMPANHIA DO METROPOLITANO DE SÃO PAULO - METRÔ 
São Paulo - SP 
 
We have audited the financial statements of COMPANHIA DO METROPOLITANO DE 
SÃO PAULO – METRÔ (“Company”), which consist of the balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2013 and the related statements of operations, comprehensive 
income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, as well as a summary of the significant accounting practices and other 
notes. 
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The Company's management is responsible for the fair presentation and preparation 
of these financial statements in accordance with Brazilian accounting practices and 
for the internal controls considered necessary to allow the preparation of financial 
statements free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Independent auditors’ responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audit, conducted in accordance with Brazilian and international auditing 
standards. These auditing standards require that we comply with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free of material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit includes performing procedures to obtain evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of the Company’s financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
Management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion on the financial statements 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of COMPANHIA DO METROPOLITANO DE SÃO PAULO – 
METRÔ as of December 31, 2013, the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
year then ended, in conformity with Brazilian accounting practices. 
 
Emphasis 

As described in Note 15 (Provision for contingencies), the Company is party to ongoing 
suits in respect of Line 2 – Green and Line 5 – Lilac, whose likelihood of loss is not 
considered probable, according to the Company’s legal counselors, and, accordingly, no 
provision was recognized in the financial statements. Additionally, according to Note 25 
(Subsequent events), as recommended by the Office of the Public Prosecutor, the 
contracts related to the Program of Modernization of Trains was suspended, until the 
launched investigations are concluded. Our opinion is not qualified due to these issues. 
 
Other issues 
 
Financial statements from prior periods examined by other independent auditors 
 
The exam of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012, originally 
prepared before the adjustments resulting from the changes in accounting criteria and 
correction of errors described in Note 2.5.1, was conducted under the responsibility of 
other independent auditors, who issued an unmodified report on February 20, 2013. As 
part of our audit of the financial statements of 2013, we have also examined the 
adjustments described in Note 2.5.1, made to change the information for December 31, 
2012 and opening balances as of January 1st, 2012 of the balance sheet (arising from the 
financial statements as of December 31, 2011). In our opinion, such adjustments are 
adequate and were properly made. We were not engaged to audit, review or apply any 
other procedures on the financial statements of the Company for 2012, or on the 
opening balances as of January 1st, 2012 and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on these financial statements taken as a whole.  
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Statements of value added  

We have also examined the statement of value added for the year ended December 31, 
2013, prepared under the Company’s management responsibility, whose reporting is 
required by Brazilian Corporate Law for public companies and is considered 
supplementary information by IFRS, which does not require presentation of statement of 
value added. These statements were subjected to the same auditing procedures 
previously described and, in our opinion, are fairly stated, in all material respects, in 
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Social Balance Sheet 
 
Our exams were conducted with the purpose of issuing an opinion on the financial 
statements referred to above, taken as a whole. The accounting information included in 
the social balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2013, is considered 
supplementary information to the financial statements, and are not required under 
Brazilian accounting practices. They are being presented to provide further analyses. 
This supplementary information was submitted to the same auditing procedures applied 
to the financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole 
 
The accompanying financial statements have been translated into English for the 
convenience of readers outside Brazil. 
 
São Paulo, March 12, 2014.  
 
 

 
BDO RCS Auditores Independentes  
CRC 2 SP 013846/O-1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Francisco de Paula dos Reis Júnior 
Accountant CRC 1 SP 139.268/O-6 
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